



SEPTEMBER 2024

CORPORATE CAPTURE OF PUBLIC FINANCE FUELLING THE CLIMATE CRISIS IN THE GLOBAL SOUTH



THINK YOU KNOW CLIMATE CHANGE?

THINK AGAIN

THERE ARE REAL SOLUTIONS THAT CAN PROTECT AND RESTORE OUR WORLD.

FUND OUR FUND OUR FUND OUR FUND OUR

JOIN US AND WE CAN ACT TOGETHER, NOW!

CONTENTS

Glossary	4
Executive Summary	6

PART 1. THE NEED TO TRANSFORM FOOD AND ENERGY SYSTEMS - FOR PEOPLE AND THE CLIMATE

The injustice of climate change	10
Box 1: Rising temperatures, broken records, ruined lives - 2024 timeline of climate disasters	11
Story 1: Bangladesh floods - Tajnahar's story	12
Fossil fuels and industrial agriculture: the energy and food systems that are failing us	13
Story 2: Oil pollution in the Niger delta	14
It's time to transform our food and energy systems	16
Box 2: Gender inequality faced by women farmers harms our food systems	18

PART 2. HOW FINANCE FLOWS ARE EXACERBATING THE CLIMATE, FOOD AND ENERGY CRISIS

Finance flows are failing the planet	19
Spotlight on countries' public finance	21
Box 3: External influence on public policy	22
Box 4: Direct, indirect, explicit and implicit subsidies	23
Public financing for industrial agriculture	24
Public subsidies for fossil fuels	25
Public funds fuelling public harm	26
A rocky road for renewable energy investment	26
Lack of public financing for agroecology	30
Zambia and Zimbabwe: A tale of two countries	30
PART 3. SHIFTING FINANCE FLOWS: ENSURING A JUST TRANSISTION	32
Box 5: A just and democratic energy revolution	35
PART 4: SOURCING AND SCALING-UP PUBLIC FINANCE FOR CLIMATE ACTION	36
PART 5: CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	40
Recommendations to shift the finance and fund our future	41
Methodology	42
Endnotes	45

10

_____19

GLOSSARY

AFOLU - Agriculture, Forestry and other Land Use Agribusiness:	A term to describe the multinational corporations selling the inputs and products of industrial agriculture including seeds, fertilisers, pesticides, machinery or export commodities.			
Agrochemical:	Chemicals used in industrial agriculture such as synthetic fertilisers or pesticides.			
Agroecology:	A term to describe sustainable and socially equitable farming practices that work with nature and rely mostly on knowledge instead of purchased chemical or seed inputs. The UN Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO) has developed a framework of the 10 Elements of Agroecology. ¹			
AR6 – Sixth Assessment Report:	A comprehensive report published by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change in 2023 providing an overview of the state of knowledge on the science of climate change, jointly authored by hundreds of scientists drawing on thousands of pieces of research.			
Carbon Budget:	A term used in climate policy that indicates the maximum total amount of greenhouse gases emissions under a certain target aimed at limiting the level of global warming. In this report, the carbon budget refers to the maximum amount of greenhouse gas emissions under a 1.5-degree scenario in line with the Paris Agreement.			
CCS:	Carbon Capture and Storage.			
CFS:	UN Committee on World Food Security.			
Climate finance:	A term that refers to financial flows aimed at supporting mitigation, adaptation and loss and damage action to address climate change. In this report, climate finance focuses on the responsibility of Global North countries to provide climate finance to Global South countries, who have done the least to contribute to the climate crisis while experiencing its worst impacts.			
CO ₂ :	Carbon dioxide.			
COP29:	29th UN Framework Convention on Climate Change Conference of the Parties, which will take place in Baku, Azerbaijan in November 2024.			
Corporate capture:	A term that refers to the dominant control of the private sector of the political, economic and social order.			
Direct subsidies:	Subsidies that usually take the form of payments from governments to the private sector or to individuals, in the form of cash or tax reductions, in order to incentivise investments, reduce operational costs, or to lower the prices paid by consumers for a commodity or service. This is counted as an explicit subsidy, because the government is explicit about the intention to support the industries and people's use of them			
EIB:	European Investment Bank.			
El Niño:	A term that refers to the weather pattern emerging from variations in winds and warming of sea surface over the Pacific Ocean with significant impacts on the climate of tropics and subtropics.			
Explicit subsidies:	es: Subsidies paid for by government that are explicitly designed to support industries and people's use of them. Both direct and indirect subsidies are considered to be explicit subsidies.			
FAO:	UN Food and Agriculture Organisation.			
FISP - Farm Input Subsidy Programme:	Government programmes in several sub-Saharan African countries designed to increase farmers' use of fertilisers (usually agrochemical nitrogen fertilisers) and hybrid seeds.			
Fossil fertilisers:	Synthetic nitrogen fertilisers which are produced using fossil fuels.			
Gender responsiveness:	A quality of programmes, policies or activities that acknowledge and address the barriers, unique preferences, needs and opportunities of women and girls.			
GCF:	Green Climate Fund.			
GHG:	Green House Gas emissions.			
IFAD:	International Fund for Agricultural Development.			
IMF:	International Monetary Fund.			

Implicit subsidies:	When governments pay the costs of repairing externalised social and environmental harm caused by certain industries, these costs can be counted as implicit subsidies, for example: recovering from climate change impacts, costs of local clean-up and harm to health caused by pollution, economic losses caused by traffic congestion.		
Indirect subsidies:	When governments cover or contribute to reducing costs in infrastructure or services such as electricity, research or training that would otherwise be paid for by the private sector. This is counted as an explicit subsidy, because the government is explicit about the intention to support the industries and people's use of them.		
IPCC:	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.		
LNG:	Liquid Natural Gas.		
MDBs:	Multilateral Development Banks.		
MNC - Multinational corporation:	A corporation that has business operations in multiple countries, generating revenue beyond its home country.		
NCQG - New Collective Quantified Goal:	A new post-2025 global goal on climate finance to be agreed at UNFCCC negotiations.		
N ₂ O:	Nitrous Oxide.		
ODA:	Official Development Assistance.		
OECD:	Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development.		
Public finance:	A term that refers to financial flows stemming from government entities.		
Public Investment:	A term that refers to investment by public entities, which include: government entities and publicly-owned entities, as well as multilateral and bilateral financial institutions, export credit agencies, and any other institution whose primary purpose is to benefit or promote a specific national interest.		
Private finance:	A term that refers to financial flows stemming from private entities (e.g., banks, asset managers, insurers).		
PSE – Producer Support Estimate:	An OECD indicator for subsidies. In agriculture this includes direct support to agriculture producers and subsidies that allow products to be sold at a guaranteed price.		
Social protection:	Although there is no formal definition of social protection, the United Nations' International Labour Organisation (ILO) defines the concept as a mix of policies and programmes that aim to reduce poverty, vulnerability and inequality throughout the life cycle. ² Policies such as sick pay, parental leave and pensions are all examples of social protection tools that help individuals make ends meet when their ability to earn a living is affected by life events. When applied expansively, the term can also include programmes that support key public services such as healthcare and education, or subsidies for example to food or fuel. Social protection programmes can therefore deliver human rights for individuals, while also supporting the broader economy.		
Stranded assets:	Assets that have suffered from unanticipated or premature devaluations. Future climate policies could potentially lead to a phase-out or prohibition of future fossil extraction, leaving developing countries with hundreds of billions of dollars' worth of unusable 'stranded assets', while still obliged to pay back debt for many decades into the future for the building of now-irrelevant infrastructure.		
Subsidies:	A term that refers to financial support given by governments, either as cash through tax mechanisms or providing indirect support such as infrastructure or services, to groups or individuals to either provide economic advantage or to advance social good.		
UN:	United Nations.		
UNFCCC:	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change.		
UN Framework Convention on Tax:	A new UN-led process that has the potential to ensure all countries will have an equal voice in setting global tax rules.		
WB:	World Bank.		
WFP:	World Food Programme.		



The world's money is flowing in the wrong direction. The climate crisis is really about money: too much money is fuelling climate change, too little money is going to climate solutions, and extractive money flows are locking economies deeper into climate-destructive spirals that deepen inequality.

New ground-breaking ActionAid research examines the use of public funds in the Global South, and finds that **the same industries that are fuelling the climate crisis are draining public funds from Global South governments.**

ActionAid's new analysis of global data looks into patterns of public financing and finds that:

- Corporate capture of public finance means that each year the climate-destructive fossil fuel and industrial agriculture sectors are getting US\$ 677 billion in subsidies in the Global South. This amount could pay for primary school education for all sub-Saharan African children more than 3.5 times over.
- The industrial agriculture sector in the Global South has been receiving an annual average of US\$ 238 billion in public subsidies every year, in the years between 2016 (when the Paris Agreement was signed) and 2021 (the most recent year with available data). In 2021 this figure came to US\$ 276.4 billion.
- The fossil fuel sector has been receiving an even more shocking annual average of US\$ 438.6 billion a year in publicly financed subsidies from Global South countries between 2016 and 2023. Fossil fuel subsidies have steadily risen over this period, and in 2023 this came to US\$ 495.3 billion.
- Climate finance grants from the Global North for climate-hit countries are still grossly insufficient to support climate action and the necessary transitions. Climate finance grants amount to just 1/20thof the Global South public finance going to fossil fuels and industrial agriculture.
- The lack of real climate finance for solutions in the Global South means that **renewable energy is** receiving 40 times less public finance than the fossil fuel sector.

- Renewable energy public investment in the Global South comes to an annual average of just US\$ 10.3 billion each year. Even more worryingly, renewable energy investment in the Global South has been on a downward trend, more than halving from US\$ 15 billion in 2016 to US\$ 7 billion in 2021, likely due to the growing number of countries facing debt distress.
- Governments in the Global North continue to disproportionately fuel the climate crisis. Even though the Global North has just one quarter of the world's population, their annual average fossil fuel subsidies came to US\$ 239.7 billion.

These numbers illustrate a deeply worrying pattern about the state of the planet's finance flows, and how corporate capture of public finance is actively undermining the interests of climate-vulnerable countries, as well as global climate commitments.

There is an urgent need for all governments to speed up the transition to green, resilient, democratic and people-led climate solutions for food and energy, such as renewable energy and agroecology. For Global South countries already experiencing the devastating consequences of climate change, the need for global transition is all the more urgent.

But the fossil fuel and industrial agriculture sectors are exerting an iron grip on the energy and agriculture policies and budgets of the same Global South countries that are bearing the worse climate impacts caused by these industries. This corporate capture of public finance is locking countries of the Global South into harmful development pathways that drive land grabs, pollute communities, undermine food sovereignty, threaten human rights, devastate ecosystems and compound the injustice of climate change.

While the use of public subsidies to strengthen communities' access to food and energy can often be motivated in the public interest, the unquestioning public financing of climate-destructive fossil fuel and industrial agribusiness instead of people-centred climate solutions for food and energy, is short-sighted and self-defeating.

The accumulating planet-heating greenhouse gases, ecological destruction and land grabs caused by these industries threaten the climate stability, food security, livelihoods, access to water and rights of people – particularly of those already marginalised and living in poverty – in the immediate and mid-term, and are relentlessly pushing our planet to the brink of survival. It is therefore not in the interests of people or nations to use scarce public funds to fuel addiction to the industries that are doing them the most harm.

The fossil fuel and industrial agriculture sectors are extractive in all senses of the word. Not only do they extract fossil fuels from the ground and fertility from soils through monocultures and damaging chemicals, but they are successfully extracting massive amounts of public subsidies from Global South countries. The big corporations involved are simultaneously pushing countries deeper into climate crisis and poverty, while also paying little to no taxes thanks to global rules and tax havens facilitated by Global North governments.

In the meantime, the wealthy countries of the Global North who are most responsible for causing climate change are not only failing to take urgent action to adequately cut their emissions, but are also breaking their climate finance promises to the countries that are experiencing the brunt of climate impacts.

The debt crisis – exacerbated by the escalating costs of dealing with destructive climate change impacts – is also locking many Global South countries into fossil fuel and industrial agriculture pathways. Obligations to earn export dollars for debt repayment to the International Monetary Fund (IMF), and governments and banks based in the Global North, enables the fossil fuel and industrial agriculture sectors to tighten their grip on these economies, preventing climate-vulnerable countries from making rational choices that could otherwise address the climate crisis, and people's food and energy needs.





The world's finance flows are thus fuelling climate change and failing communities. They are preventing climate-vulnerable countries from making equitable and just transitions to democratic climate solutions that meet people's needs. They are leaving communities, women and marginalised people at the continued mercy of the climate crisis.

A closer look at several countries also reveals that:

- The industrial agriculture sector in Zambia took 80% of the country's national agriculture budget this year, mostly in subsidies for climate-harming synthetic fertilisers and commercial seeds. Meanwhile, only 6% of the Agriculture Ministry's Agricultural Development and Productivity Programme was spent on supporting farmers to adopt agroecological practices that naturally strengthen soil fertility and reduce dependency on agrochemical inputs.
- Zambia's neighbour Zimbabwe has made public policy statements in support of a shift towards agroecology. This shift is starting to show, with 34% of the country's agriculture budget this year estimated to be supporting farmers to adopt practices to help them shift away from climate destructive agrochemicals. However, Zimbabwe is still using approximately 50% of its entire national agriculture budget towards subsidising industrial agribusiness inputs such as fertilisers and hybrid seeds, signalling the industry's continued control over the sector and budget, as well as the potential to free up more public finances for public good.
- Kenya's ambition to be a global leader in renewable energy is borne out by the finding that per capita investment in renewables in the country is outspending public subsidy provision to fossil fuels. However recent protests in Kenya against the government's reduction of fossil fuel subsidies underlines the importance of feminist Just Transition principles. Shifts in public financing must be carefully sequenced to protect the rights of people especially women living in poverty. Any reductions in fossil fuel subsidies should target the wealthy corporations first. Only once accessible and democratic alternatives and comprehensive social protections are available to people on low incomes, should progressive policies be shifted.
- The Gambia, Brazil and Senegal were found to be making public investments in renewable energy on a scale that is almost comparable to the per capita public subsidy provision for fossil fuels. In the Gambia, the scale of public investment in renewable energy is more than 4/5^{ths} that of public finance provided to fossil fuels; and in Brazil and Senegal the scale of renewables investment was found to be almost 2/3^{rds} that of fossil fuel subsidies.

- However, the urgent need for the shift to renewable energy to be governed by feminist Just Transition
 principles is also highlighted in Brazil, where famers are not being protected from land grabs driven
 by the scaling up of wind and solar farms.
- Meanwhile, in fossil fuel producing countries such as South Africa, Bangladesh and Nigeria, the public purse was found to be heavily subsidising the fossil fuel sector. Fossil fuel subsidies in these countries were found to be 22, 30 and 33 times (respectively) the per capita level of annual public investment in renewable energy.

Global South governments are trapped in an exploitative and ultimately self-harming relationship with the fossil fuel and industrial agriculture sectors. Thus instead of being used to address the climate crisis, their public financing is being mis-spent and harming communities.

Governments of the Global South know full well that the cost of the climate crisis is already pushing them into spiralling debt and forcing cuts to vital public services. It is time for them to stand up to the fossil fuel and industrial agriculture industries that are causing climate change, grabbing communities' lands, destroying ecosystems and taking the lion's share of public finances.

It's time to fix the finance flows that are failing us all.

RECOMMENDATIONS

- **Public finance:** All countries across Global South and North must accelerate the shift away from climate-destructive fossil fuel and industrial agriculture, towards people-led climate solutions that safeguard people's rights, deliver accountability, and ensure public participation in decision-making processes. In addition to corporate regulation, climate-centred energy and agriculture policies, and just transition approaches, public finance must be redirected away from the causes of climate change towards the real solutions. Priority areas for public financing must include the scaling up of decentralised renewable energy systems to provide energy access, and gender-responsive extension services that offer training in agroecology and support for marketing.
- 2 **Climate finance:** Wealthy countries must provide trillions of dollars in grant-based climate finance each year to Global South countries on the front lines of the climate crisis, including by agreeing to an ambitious new climate finance goal at COP29 that reflects this scale.
- **3 Private finance:** Climate transition plans consistent with a 1.5°C climate goal should be mandatory for banks, ending the financing of fossil fuels and harmful industrial agriculture expansion. Governments must regulate the banking and finance sectors to end destructive financing, with regulations that set minimum standards for human rights, social and environmental frameworks.
 - **Finance system transformation:** Wealthy countries and international financial institutions must implement conditionality-free debt cancellation for countries on the front lines of the climate crisis that need it, and support bold and fair new global tax rules through agreeing a strong UN Framework Convention on Tax.

4

A women heads to a deep well to collect water in Somaliland amid the worst drought in decades. CREDIT: Daniel Jukes/ActionAid

PART 1. THE NEED TO TRANSFORM FOOD AND ENERGY SYSTEMS – FOR PEOPLE AND THE CLIMATE

THE INJUSTICE OF CLIMATE CHANGE

Climate change is now a waking nightmare for millions of people. Intolerable heatwaves, scorching droughts, devastating cyclones and catastrophic flooding events are escalating across the planet.

In June 2024, scientists reported that the average global temperature had been 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels for a full year.³ 2023 was the hottest year since records began,⁴ with unprecedented human-induced climate change further exacerbated by the El Niño effect. But with each month in the first half of 2024 surpassing previous temperature records, it is "increasingly likely" that 2024 will in turn become the warmest year on record.⁵

Communities living in poverty across the Global South continue to experience disproportionally severe impacts, even though they have little responsibility for causing the greenhouse gas emissions that are disrupting the planet's climate.

Women, girls, marginalised and indigenous peoples are particularly and disproportionally affected by climate change impacts. Women and children are 14 times more likely to die from climate disasters as men,⁶ and 80% of people displaced by climate disasters are women.⁷ The greater the economic and gender inequality, the greater the disparity between women and men's chances of survival.⁸ Climate change exacerbates existing gender inequalities, such as through expectations that girls will leave school earlier than their brothers when family income is affected by crop failure, that women and girls will walk long distances to fetch water when wells dry up, or that women will skip meals before their husbands when the family is hungry. Girls may be married off by parents when families cannot afford to feed them, exposing them to gender based violence, early pregnancy and depriving them of schooling. And when climate change leaves families hungry, women report higher incidences of domestic violence.⁹

Climate change is exacerbating rural-urban migration, increasing poverty, exploitation, and greater vulnerability of women-headed households. Gender-blind or gender-biased policies which reduce women's access to land, markets, finance, public services, agricultural extension or climate information also further increase women's exposure to the effects of climate change.

BOX 1:

RISING TEMPERATURES, BROKEN RECORDS, RUINED LIVES – 2024 TIMELINE OF CLIMATE DISASTERS

Unprecedented global temperatures caused by a devastating combination of climate change exacerbated by El Niño, have led to a relentless succession of extreme weather events, climate chaos and climate disasters across almost every part of the planet through 2024.

Heavy rains that began in 2023 and continued into **January 2024** took the Congo River to its highest level in decades, flooding the Republic of the Congo and the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC), causing more than 300 deaths, displacing more than half a million people across the two countries, and leaving multiple billions of dollars' worth of damage.

Meanwhile, Southern Africa recorded the most severe drought during the **January-to-March** agricultural season in more than 100 years, leading to water scarcity, crop failures, food shortages and outbreaks of disease such as cholera. The record mid-season dry spell has led Zambia and Zimbabwe to officially declare states of emergency, and the government of Malawi to declare a state of disaster. Now in the annual lean season, 26 to 30 million people are facing food insecurity.

Exceptional and extreme heatwaves, with widespread and sometimes persistent temperatures above 40°C in **April** across South and Southeast Asia, particularly affected the Philippines, Thailand, Vietnam, Bangladesh and India, causing drought, agricultural losses, heatstroke deaths and disrupting education and daily life for millions.

Around the same time in **April and May**, heavy and relentless floods caused by rare cyclones on the East African coast devastated Tanzania, Kenya, Ethiopia, Burundi and Somalia, causing at least 450 deaths, displacing 480,000, and affecting 1.6m people. The disaster followed several years of severe drought in the region. Also in **April and May**, Brazil's worst flooding disaster for 80 years affected the Southern part of the country, causing 181 deaths, and displacing 580,0000 people.

In June, Cyclone Remal was one of the most devastating cyclones to strike Bangladesh in recent years, affecting 4.6 million people, 800,000 of whom were evacuated, and causing damage to more than 170,000 houses.

In late **June and early July** Hurricane Beryl became the earliest Category 5 storm on record in the Atlantic basin, causing particularly catastrophic damage in the Caribbean. On the islands of Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, approximately 36% of the population was affected. The hurricane brought down the electrical grid serving 95% of the island of Grenada, and damaged or destroyed 90% of Barbados' country's fishing fleet. Venezuela and the US state of Texas were also affected.

Deadly heatwaves in **July** around the Mediterranean (particularly Greece, Italy, Spain, Portugal and Morocco), with temperatures surpassing 40°C, has caused wildfires and fatalities. Bouts of both extreme rainfall and extreme temperatures across Europe in 2024 are now expected to put some of the region's expected harvests in jeopardy.

On the heels of the cyclone earlier this year, **August** has now seen Bangladesh hit by severe flooding that has impacted nearly 5.8 million people and displaced more than 502,000 into shelters. Transportation, power and communications have been disrupted, hindering relief efforts. Meanwhile the collapse of sanitation systems and stagnant floodwaters pose major health risks, including through insect- and water-borne diseases.







FLOODING IN BANGLADESH: TAJNAHAR'S STORY

Climate change means that flooding events have become tragically frequent in Bangladesh. Given the country's extensive experience in dealing with repeated crises, Bangladesh is a world leader in adaptation and disaster response strategies.

The country's extensive preparation efforts were nonetheless overwhelmed by the scale of the floods that hit the region in August 2024. Heavy rainfall unleashed massive volumes of water into the country's river systems downstream, affecting nearly 5.8 million people, including in regions that have never experienced flooding before. Hundreds of thousands of people have been stranded, and in desperate need of humanitarian assistance. This tragedy comes only three months after devastation caused by Cyclone Remal.

At the flood shelter in the remote village of Krishnapur, where floodwaters submerged homes and roads, Tajnahar Begum, 24, sits cradling her 5-year old son, tears streaming down her face.

For days, Tajnahar has struggled to find enough food to feed her son. The little dry food they receive at the shelter is not enough, and she worries constantly about how she will nourish him in the days to come. "The water was knee-deep in our home. I had no money, no way to prepare. I left our home with nothing, hoping to find safety here, but now I can't even properly feed my child." For Tajnahar, the pain of seeing her son hungry is unbearable. She wipes away her tears, trying to stay strong for him.

Farah Kabir, director of ActionAid Bangladesh has been working with her humanitarian team to respond to the disaster. "Entire families have lost everything. We are deeply concerned about the impact of the flooding, particularly on women and children who are the most vulnerable in such emergencies. Immediate challenges include access to safe drinking water, medical services and food. Disruption of roads and communications makes it even more difficult for them to reach safety and essential resources. The collapse of the sanitation system in many areas is heightening the public health crisis.

"Countries like Bangladesh with negligible emissions and whose people have shown super resilience deserve immediate funds to address the impacts of climate change and frequent disasters," adds Farah.

"We need to recover from the losses and damage we have faced, as well as build resilience to future impacts and take on green development pathways."



FOSSIL FUELS AND INDUSTRIAL AGRICULTURE: THE ENERGY AND FOOD SYSTEMS THAT ARE FAILING US

The fossil fuel and industrial agriculture industries are the two sectors most responsible for causing the climate change that is devastating lives across the Global South and pushing the planet to the brink.¹⁰

The role of fossil fuels in releasing planet-warming greenhouse gases (GHG) is widely recognised. Their extraction and burning accounts for over 75% of global emissions.¹¹ The contribution of industrial agriculture to the GHGs heating the planet today is less widely known, however.

The Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use (AFOLU) sector is calculated by the United Nations' (UN) Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) to account for up to 21% of global GHGs.¹² This means that agriculture is the second largest contributor to climate change after fossil fuels. The factors identified by the IPCC as the main sources of increased agricultural emissions are characteristic of development driven by industrialised agriculture. This is typified by large-scale plantations; factory-farmed livestock production; widespread application of agrochemical fertilisers; pesticides and herbicides; hybrid or genetically modified seeds sold by corporations and which need to be purchased anew each year; mechanised farming; monocultures of single crop varieties covering hundreds of hectares; and commodity crops destined for export. Large agribusinesses corporations control and profit from almost every step of the process.

A major part of the climate harm caused by industrialised agriculture is due to its heavy reliance on fossil fuels in the production of synthetic nitrogen fertilisers ('fossil fertilisers') and agrochemicals. When these are applied to soils they also cause soil carbon to degrade into atmospheric CO2, while also triggering highly climatepotent nitrous oxide (N2O) emissions. Industrialised agriculture, and the unsustainable food system that it supplies, is furthermore the largest driver of deforestation on the planet, destroying the critical ecosystems such as the Amazon and Cerrado which are essential to balancing our planet's atmospheric emissions. Emissions from industrialised livestock production methane released from rice paddies also contribute to industrial agriculture's climate impact.¹³

Communities in the Global South are disproportionally affected by the disrupted weather patterns and disasters caused by these industries' contribution to climate change. Furthermore, it is their lands, their ecosystems, their water bodies and their livelihoods that are most harmed by the aggressive expansion of these industries into their territories. As industrial agriculture and fossil fuel corporations target more community lands across Africa, Asia and Latin America, the cruel combination of landlessness, deforestation and water pollution is compounding the injustice of climate change on communities in the Global South.



OIL POLLUTION IN THE NIGER DELTA

Erhobaro community in the Niger Delta is host to 27 oil wellheads, from which Shell extracts and sells its oil.

"Oil Well 27 is located right on my mother's land," says Finegirl, a 27-year old farmer. "When Shell first came to our community, they approached and negotiated with every landowner whose property they needed. They assured them that if they released their land to Shell, they would be financially taken care of for the rest of their lives. But more than 15 years later, my mother still hasn't received a single dime from Shell."

In place of compensation, Shell has brought only problems to the area. Frequent oil spillages pollute the local tap water, poor soils affect the health of their crops, and community members suffer constant diarrhoea. "The relentless noise and powerful vibrations from the oil well don't allow us to sleep. Years of sleepless nights have led to my high blood pressure, and it's the same for many others in the community too," says Finegirl. When the oil well engines start up, people have to shout to be heard over the deafening noise, and communication becomes impossible."

Oforigbalan community is 40 km away on the River Forçados. Helen, a fisherwoman in her fifties, has also seen the impact of Shell's oil extraction and frequent spillages on the river ecosystem. "In the past, I would catch many big fish. There were a lot of fishermen and women in the community and fishing was a booming business. But as you can see, I've set my net since this morning and I am yet to catch a single fish. It makes me sad when I inspect my net and find it empty.

"The land is no longer fertile for farming, and the river is no longer productive for fishing."





Fossil fuel and industrial agriculture expansion in the Global South are not only harming local communities, they are not even meeting people's urgent energy and food needs. We are often told that fossil fuels and industrial agriculture are necessary to address food insecurity and energy poverty, and to provide livelihoods and public revenue in the Global South. But these claims do not stand up to scrutiny.

Approximately half of Africa's population still lacks access to electricity, a fact that has been used as justification for new large-scale fossil fuel developments across the continent.¹⁴ However, most of the coal, oil and gas that is currently targeted for expansion in Africa and many developing countries is either destined for export or intended for use by industrial sectors. These expansion projects rarely meet the immediate energy needs of citizens living in poverty and without access to electricity.¹⁵ Meanwhile, local pollution, land grabs and water consumption from mining often causes devastating harm to local communities' livelihoods, food security and rights, far outweighing any (usually low-paid) employment benefit resulting from the fossil fuel sector expansion.¹⁶

Similarly, claims that industrial agriculture expansion will address countries' food insecurity gaps are clearly untrue when those products are destined for export rather than local markets. Much of the global agricultural commodity market is likely to end up as animal feed (soybeans, maize), biofuels (soybeans, maize, sugar, palm oil) or other commodities (cotton, flowers) rather than to feed people. Meanwhile, millions of smallholder farmers, women in rural areas and Indigenous communities have been outcompeted or violently forced off their land by the aggressive expansion of large-scale plantations.¹⁷

Several studies have shown that 70% of the world's population is fed by food grown on small farms, largely using diversified cropping systems and often agroecological approaches, even though these farms only use about a quarter of the world's agricultural land.¹⁸ Large-scale industrialised agriculture systems are not the farming systems that actually feed people.

The expansion of industrialised agriculture over several decades has seen chemicals and mechanised systems replacing farming livelihoods and labour, causing farms to expand from a few hectares to hundreds or even thousands of hectares, displacing families, providing ever-fewer poorly-paid jobs for labourers, and driving rural-urban migration and joblessness. For most Global South countries, where agriculture tends to form the backbone of the economy, the steady loss of livelihoods due to the industrialisation of agriculture, the disappearance of smallholdings that provide livelihoods and foods for rural people, and lack of alternative economic strategies for rural areas, all exacerbated by climate change impacts, contribute to the present and future jobs crises for young people and future generations.

Fossil fuels and industrial agriculture are simply the easiest ways for Global South governments to produce commodities for export, with which to earn foreign dollars in order to repay their national debts - which themselves have been exacerbated by the spiralling costs of climate disasters. In this way, unjust climate-induced debt in Global South countries is a driver of the expansion of the industries most responsible for causing the climate crisis - a vicious cycle that must be halted.¹⁹

In shaping food and energy systems around industrial agriculture and fossil fuels, governments are ultimately failing to prioritise communities' food security, energy, livelihoods and wellbeing, their ecosystems, and the climate. Instead they are delivering control and profit over food and energy to the corporations and elites that are harming people and planet.

For the sake of countries and communities on the front lines of climate change, there is an urgent need for the world to transition away from the fossil fuels and industrial agriculture that are causing the climate crisis. Moving away from economies based on extractive export-oriented commodities of fossil fuels and industrial agriculture, towards systems that truly meet peoples' food, energy and livelihood needs would still be in the interests of the Global South even if there was no climate crisis. The need to avert the climate crisis simply brings this agenda into sharper and more immediate focus.

In spite of, or perhaps because of, the climate harm they cause, both sectors continue to make concerted efforts to build counter-narratives against policies intended to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Both sectors have systematically attempted to delay and oppose effective policy, while influencing public narratives through lobbying, PR and disinformation campaigns. This level of influence has grave consequences for Global South countries.

IT'S TIME TO TRANSFORM OUR FOOD AND ENERGY SYSTEMS

All countries must accelerate the transformation towards climate solutions that democratically deliver peoples' rights and secure their access to food, energy and livelihoods.

The wealthy countries of the Global North have been industrialising and polluting for more than a century. They are historically responsible for the emissions that continue to accumulate in the atmosphere, and which continue to heat the planet today. Meanwhile, industrialisation has come far later in Global South countries, who thus have far less historical responsibility for the climate change that is disrupting weather patterns all over the world today. This means that the Global South also has the right to development, and to use the bulk of the planetary carbon budget that is left. It is therefore right and fair that the wealthy polluting countries of the Global North take the most urgent climate action, to cut emissions by moving away from fossil fuels and industrial agriculture, and to provide their fair share of climate finance to the Global South. At the same time, it is also in the interests of the Global South to "leapfrog" over these dead-end climate-destructive industries, and to transition to low-emission development pathways as soon as possible.

Agroecological farming approaches are increasingly recognised as key technical interventions that are required to feed the world in an era of climate change, and which also bring multiple social and ecological benefits. Institutions and reports including the IPCC's Sixth Assessment Report (AR6),²⁰ the IPCC Special Report on Climate Change and Land,²¹ and the UN Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO) Committee on World Food Security (CFS)²² see agroecology as a necessary step in preventing the climate crisis.

Agroecological farming approaches provide multiple benefits to the planet's climate, farmers, local communities, ecosystems and consumers. Agroecological practices can produce impressive results for farmers, and these are particularly noticeable when climate impacts strike. Millions of farmers are now finding that their soils' improved water-carrying capacity and fertility confer vital resilience to the escalating effects of climate change, without compromising yields.²³ Agroecological approaches mean that farmers are more likely to gain a harvest even in the face of erratic and changing weather patterns such as failed rains, flooding, and pest attacks.²⁴

By avoiding the need to burn fossil fuels to produce synthetic nitrogen fertilisers, as well as averting the emissions and soil loss when fertilisers are applied, and avoiding the aggressive deforestation associated with industrial agriculture and intensive livestock production, agroecological approaches are an important mitigation strategy for the food sector.²⁵

Agroecological approaches work with nature instead of against it, in contrast to industrialised agriculture in which expensive agrochemicals and seeds sold by agribusiness corporations cause harm to soils, biodiversity and the climate. Farmers rely on knowledge instead of purchased inputs, using nutrients in natural local materials, the natural behaviour of plants, birds and insects, the biological functions of beneficial microbes, and a huge diversity of crops, seed varieties and livestock breeds that have been bred and adapted to different environments and purposes. Nutrient-rich compost, manure and leguminous crops such as beans and clover deliver soil fertility for healthy crops, without the need for fossil-fuel dependent nitrogen fertilisers.

Agroecology does not only provide mitigation and adaptation benefits, but is also particularly suited to the needs of smallholder peasant farmers,ⁱ especially women farmers, who do not usually have the deep pockets or access to finance to invest in expensive agribusiness inputs.

Agroecology is also a key strategy for protecting the livelihoods of the 1 in 4 people on the planet who depend on agriculture for their livelihoods. In contrast to the erosion of farming livelihoods being accelerated by the industrialisation of agriculture, land that is host to agroecological and smallholder farming systems provides livelihoods, food security and more thriving rural economies for many more families.



The IPCC's Sixth Assessment Report makes clear that shifting away from fossil fuels and scaling up renewable energy must be at the very heart of our planetary strategy to avoid climate breakdown.²⁶ These findings were underlined in the ground-breaking global agreement at COP28 UN climate negotiations in 2023, to transition away from fossil fuels and triple renewable energy. By reducing energy over-consumption – particularly in the Global North - and improving energy efficiency use of the materials needed for renewables,²⁷ it is possible to achieve universal energy access with renewable energy, while simultaneously addressing the global climate crisis.

Renewable energy – particularly solar, wind and micro-hydro – can and must be scaled up to replace fossil fuels and address energy poverty, while avoiding the climate-devastating emissions associated with fossil fuels. Renewable energy technologies available today are already sufficient to achieve 100% renewable energy.²⁸ The Southern hemisphere is particularly well-placed to harness renewable energy, as abundant sunshine means that relatively little land is required for solar power to meet energy needs.²⁹

i. The UN General Assembly adopted in 2018 the Declaration on the Rights of Peasants and Other People Working in Rural Areas. The term 'peasant' is used to refer to any person engaging in "small-scale agricultural production for subsistence and/or for the market, and who relies significantly, though not necessarily exclusively, on family or household labour and other non-monetized ways of organizing labour, and who has a special dependency on and attachment to the land". It aims to recognise the contribution of peasants, rural workers and small-scale farmers to global food security, development and environmental conservation. The word 'peasant' holds strong historical significance and a sense of collective identity. As an aftermath of industrialization, the land, culture and ways of living of peasant communities were progressively severed, accompanied by the post-capitalist obliteration of subsistence living and traditional knowledge and practice. Today, the term 'peasant' and its ways of living are being reclaimed by social movements such as La Via Campesina as a means of resistance to the industrialisation and commodification of the food system. In this report, we use the terms 'peasant' and 'smallholder farmers' interchangeably.



Renewable energy does not only provide mitigation and energy access benefits, but it can also make a major contribution towards adaptation strategies in a warming world, such as irrigation, food processing and storage, transport and cooling. Distributed renewable energy access can particularly benefit women and girls in communities for example through reducing the burden of care such as fetching and cooking with firewood (roles disproportionally shouldered by women and girls), increasing safety through electrical lighting at night, enabling young people to study after daylight hours, or offering new livelihood opportunities in rural communities thanks to electricity access.

Furthermore, as small-scale and distributed renewable energy systems tend to be owned at the local or national level, profits and taxes are retained and spent within the country, in contrast to multinational corporate profits which all too-often benefit only the headquarters and shareholders in the Global North.

BOX 2: GENDER INEQUALITY FACED BY WOMEN FARMERS HARMS OUR FOOD SYSTEMS

In many countries agriculture provides the livelihood for 80% to 90% of the population. Women make up the majority of smallholder farmers in most developing countries. Across the Global South, nearly half of the agricultural workforce are women, and in sub-Saharan Africa the proportion is far greater.³⁰ The majority of the food that actually feeds the world is still grown by smallholder farmers.

However, women face multiple barriers in farming, setting back food security and rural communities' wellbeing. Women are often not recognized as farmers by their own families or communities, let alone by governments or donors. Patriarchy, stereotypes about men and women's rights and roles, as well as the current global economic model, all come together to undermine women's equal status in society, nevermind as farmers. This is compounded by policies, legislation and practices on the ground.

While large-scale commercial farms are prioritised for land and access to water, cultural practices or laws mean that women farmers often have insecure access to land and water sources.

Women farmers often focus on producing food for local and household consumption and are thus often not regarded by governments as "economically active". This means they can often be excluded from memberships of farmer groups and cooperatives, as well as denied access to credit. Governmentprovided extension services often ignore women smallholder farmers, meaning they miss out on key advice that might help them to adapt to climate change impacts.

Meanwhile, women farmers must often work a "triple shift" of household, family care and farming duties.

Policies and practices that assume that men are the only farmers that count are failing the majority of farmers and food systems. In systematically ignoring and failing to address the specific needs and challenges faced by women farmers, food security and local economies are being undermined. In an era of climate change, when food security, farming livelihoods and economies are already threatened, advancing gender-sensitive policies must be key for effective adaptation and essential for securing people's right to food.



A cycle rickshaw pulls a family through flooded streets in Noakhali, Bangladesh, after the devastating floods in August 2024 CREDIT: Fahad Kaizer/ ActionAid, Bangladesh

PART 2. HOW FINANCE FLOWS ARE EXACERBATING THE CLIMATE, FOOD AND ENERGY CRISES

FINANCE FLOWS ARE FAILING THE PLANET

FUNDOUR

The world's money is flowing in the wrong direction. The climate crisis is really about money: too much money is fuelling the climate crisis, too little money is going to climate solutions, and extractive money flows are locking economies deeper into climate-destructive spirals that deepen inequality.

As the IPCC's Sixth Assessment Report (AR6) found, more finance is flowing to the causes of climate change than to its solutions.³¹

Both private and public financial flows continue to incentivise the growth of the two main industries causing the climate crisis: fossil fuels and industrial agriculture. Although these industries purport to meet people's energy and food needs, they are largely controlled by powerful multinational corporations whose profit-seeking business model concentrates land and wealth into fewer and fewer hands, and all-too-often disenfranchises people instead of serving the public good. These two industries most responsible for causing climate change are aggressively expanding across the Global South, where countries are already disproportionately affected by the impacts of the climate crisis.

Even though the shared global agreement under the UN's 2016 Paris Agreement committed governments to making "finance flows consistent with a pathway towards low greenhouse gas emissions and climate-resilient development"³² the world's money flows continue to accelerate climate change.

ActionAid's 2023 report "How the Finance Flows: The banks fuelling the climate crisis" showed that the world's banks had channelled at least US\$ 3.2 trillion in private finance to fossil fuel corporation activities in the Global South since 2016.³³ Meanwhile, bank financing to corporate industrial agriculture operations in the Global South came to US\$ 370 billion in the same period.

The fossil fuel and industrial agriculture corporations carrying out and profiting from these activities in the Global South are largely headquartered in Global North countries. They extract resources from the Global South to be used in high-income, resource-dependent countries in the Global North. Benefiting from low tax rates (thanks to rich nations setting global tax rules to their own advantage),³⁴ profits from these industries also go to their headquarters and shareholders in the Global North, instead of providing tax revenue to strengthen public services in the Global South, or circulating in and strengthening local and national economies.

This pattern in which products and profits flow Northwards, embodies the ongoing extraction and exploitation of the Global South by the Global North, beginning with colonialism and continuing in other forms today. Meanwhile, climate financing provided for the Global South to undertake mitigation and adaptation, and to address loss and damage, is critically lacking.³⁵

For the planet to have a chance of averting runaway climate breakdown, climate financing from the Global North countries that have done the most to cause climate change, to the Global South countries on the front lines of the crisis, is an essential piece of solving the climate challenge. Wealthy countries in the North have a responsibility to provide sufficient climate finance in the form of grants to the Global South countries who have done little to cause the crisis, but are experiencing the disproportional and devastating impacts of climate change.

Rich countries continue to short-change so-called "developing" countries when it comes to climate finance, however. In spite of their claims that they mobilised US\$ 116 billion in climate finance in 2022 – surpassing the US\$ 100 billion a year target, the reality is that the real value of financing fell short by as much as \$88 billion. Nearly 70 per cent of financing was provided as loans, only adding to the indebtedness of Global South countries.³⁶ Grant-based support is essential so that countries and communities who are being pushed deeper into debt by the costs of the escalating climate crisis can recover and rebuild after climate disasters, strengthen resilience to future impacts, and transition towards green and democratic solutions for food and energy. (More information on climate finance and COP29 climate negotiations can be found in Part 4 "Sourcing and scaling up public finance for climate action".)

Underlining the point that climate finance flows are failing, and that the world's money is going in the wrong direction, ActionAid's 2023 report found that between 2016 and 2022, the volume of climate finance grants provided by Global North governments was just 1/20th the volume of bank financing provided to climate-harming fossil fuel and industrial agriculture activities in the Global South.³⁷ Whatever limited climate funding is available for solutions, is thus being actively undermined by the banks who continue to finance climate destruction.

As the IPCC clearly states: "there is sufficient global capital to close the global investment gaps but there are barriers to redirect capital to climate action".³⁸

For the subsequent sections of this report, we will focus on the role and magnitude of public financial flows in support of the fossil fuel and industrial agriculture sectors in the Global South, with a general understanding that the North-South dynamics laid out above greatly influence the public financial management across the region.

SPOTLIGHT ON COUNTRIES' PUBLIC FINANCE

In principle, governments should use their domestic public finance to serve the public good, which includes protecting the environment, developing strong social safety nets, and respecting human rights. In practice, however, the picture is often very different.

Evidence suggests, in fact, that the fossil fuel and industrial agriculture corporations that are pushing our planet to the brink are hoovering up the lion's share of public financing, while climate solutions are still massively underfunded. Indeed, we find that Global South public finance continues to serve the Global North's extraction from, and exploitation of, the Global South.

Governments have a range of tools through which to use their domestic tax revenue for the public good. The principal mechanisms for public financing are through provision of public services, the development of state institutions and the allocation of subsidies.

The provision of public services to meet basic human rights is an essential part of a government's duty towards people. Examples of public services include: provision of electricity, water and transport infrastructure that ensure access and affordability, health and education services, as well as agricultural extension services to farmers. Many state institutions also benefit from public finance. However, public institutions that are contributing to the climate crisis include state-owned fossil fuel and industrial agriculture corporations, sovereign wealth and public pension funds that own shares in fossil fuels and industrial agriculture corporations, and state-owned banks that leverage public funds into loans or bonds to climate-harming corporations for the expansion of their activities.

Public subsidies are a key component of the public financing toolkit, and a focus of this report's analysis. Subsidy allocations are usually done in the interests of advancing either economic policies or social good. These two agendas are not always aligned, however, especially when subsidies distributed in the name of advancing economic policy cause negative socioeconomic and environmental impacts such as climate change.

When it comes to supporting the energy and agriculture sectors, governments have the opportunity to use their public funds gained through tax revenues to address the climate crisis and safeguard people's rights. But often governments do not decide subsidy allocations in isolation. Corporate interests, both domestic and foreign, as well as international financial institutions and foreign governments, can exert significant pressure on policy-making, as well as decisions about subsidy allocation and reform.

Multinational corporations in particular have a track record of influencing Global South policymakers to adapt policies to their business interests, as reported by InfluenceMap.³⁹ Meanwhile influential multinational financial institutions such as the International Monetary Fund (IMF) frequently pressure Global South countries to invest in fossil fuels⁴⁰ and implement austerity measures by withdrawing progressive subsidies that support people on low incomes,⁴¹ as part of their loan conditionalities.



EXTERNAL INFLUENCE ON PUBLIC POLICY

The Instituto Penar Agropecuária is considered to be one of the most influential lobbying groups in Brazil,⁴² representing the interests of large multinational companies including JBS, BASF and Cargill. This lobbying group was key in passing legislation undermining Indigenous land rights and opening their territories to mining and agribusiness.⁴³ Lobby groups representing agrochemical companies have also set out to stop the EU from banning the export of dangerous chemicals that are already banned within EU borders.⁴⁴

Japanese and South Korean fossil fuel corporations, meanwhile, have been found to have influenced policy makers in Vietnam to fast-track and approve new LNG infrastructure projects. Japan's industrial strategy to strengthen Japanese influence over energy policy across Southeast Asia⁴⁵ has also seen the Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA) heavily involved in the drafting of the Bangladesh government's Energy and Power Master Plan, proposing that the country's energy system becomes heavily dependent on fossil fuels as well as debunked approaches such as Hydrogen and Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS) which further delay the transition away from fossil fuels.⁴⁶

Similarly, European fossil fuel companies have tried to secure gas-based energy pathways for development in Africa, while also succeeding in weakening gas reduction policies in the EU.

The IMF has encouraged many countries to expand their fossil fuel extraction as a means to repay their debt, for example Mozambique's expansion of fossil gas in Cabo Delgado.⁴⁷ In Zambia, meanwhile, IMF targets required the government to reduce its expenditure on public services, with many regressive structural benchmarks that disproportionately impact poor households, such as the elimination of subsidies on fuel and electricity tariffs, and the reinstatement of VAT and excise taxes on fuel (removing any protection from volatile and rising fuel prices), which are likely to impact particularly on micro, small and medium enterprises.⁴⁸

The corporate capture of the Global South is frequently facilitated by the influence of multinational corporations, international financial institutions and financial agencies – often working in combination. In many cases, such influence affords protection and power to authoritarian regimes, while also indemnifying the corporations from human rights violations, ecological destruction and climate change caused.





DIRECT, INDIRECT, EXPLICIT AND IMPLICIT SUBSIDIES

"Direct" subsidies usually take the form of payments from governments to the private sector or to individuals, either in the form of cash or tax reductions, to incentivise investments, reduce operational costs, or to lower the prices paid by consumers for a commodity or service. Examples include: tax relief to corporations, or retail subsidies to lower consumer prices of gasoline, agricultural fertilisers or renewable energy.

Governments also often provide "indirect" subsidies by covering or contributing to reduce costs that would otherwise be paid for by the private sector, for example by subsidising services or investment in infrastructure. Examples: electricity, water, training or marketing promotion.

Direct and indirect subsidies are considered to be "explicit" subsidies, because they are explicit about their intention to support the industries and people's use of them.

In addition, when the costs of repairing "externalised" social and environmental harm caused by certain industries are instead covered by governments, these costs can be counted as "implicit" subsidies. Examples include: recovering from climate change impacts, costs of local clean-up and harm to health caused by pollution, economic losses caused by traffic congestion.

Although countries are carrying a massive and deeply unjust financial burden in dealing with the many harms caused by the fossil fuel and industrial agriculture sectors, this study does NOT include "implicit" subsidies in our calculations. Instead, our calculations are based purely on the financial support explicitly provided to the climate-destructive sectors.

At UN COP26 climate negotiations in 2021, and again at COP27 in 2022, the world's governments agreed to accelerate efforts to phase-out inefficient fossil fuel subsidies. Furthermore, at COP28 in 2023, countries agreed to transition away from fossil fuels. These commitments remain far from reality, however, with global fossil fuel subsidies increasing every year since the Paris Agreement was signed. In the EU alone, for example, Member States were found to have provided an average of €55 to €58 billion per year of explicit subsidies for fossil fuels, representing more than 10% of global annual fossil fuel subsidies.

This report takes a deeper look at this pattern of public financing in the Global South, the region where the climate crisis is being felt most severely.

ActionAid's new findings analyse the extent of public subsidies allocated to fossil fuels and agriculture in Global South countries. In this report, we analyse the public subsidy allocation to industrial agriculture of 45 countries in the Global South, and fossil fuel subsidy allocation in 108 Global South countries, with a particular focus on the direct support provided to corporations and those directed at encouraging consumption. Later in the report, we **compare subsidy provision to fossil fuels with THE scale of renewable energy public investment** in a selection of countries. Finally, we look at the willingness of wealthy Global North countries to support climate action in climate-vulnerable countries, by **comparing levels of grant-based climate financing with the scale of public subsidies that the fossil fuel and industrial agriculture sectors are receiving** from countries in the Global South.



PUBLIC FINANCING FOR INDUSTRIAL AGRICULTURE

ActionAid's analysis of industrial agriculture public subsidies in the Global South reveals that:

- The industrial agriculture sector has received an annual average of at least US\$ 232 billion each year in public finance subsidies from Global South countries between 2016 (when the Paris Agreement was signed) and 2021.ⁱⁱ
- This means that every year, the industrial agriculture sector is taking public funds that could provide primary school education to all children in sub-Saharan Africa 1.26 times over.^{III}

Selected countries by region	Average annual agriculture subsidy support (2016- 2021) /US\$ million	Per capita average annual agriculture subsidy support (2016-2021) US\$	Per capita % of average annual national public finance budget ⁵⁰
AFRICA			
Zimbabwe	289.1	19.9	6.7%
South Africa	644.7	11.2	0.5%
Zambia	164.8	9.5	3.1%
Malawi	86.5	4.8	3.8%
Senegal	112.3	7.2	2.5%
ASIA			
China	223,281.7	159.1	5.8%
Indonesia	24,812.8	92.8	13.2%
Bangladesh	1,295.8	7.8	1.9%
LATIN AMERICA			
Brazil	3,889.9	18.5	0.5%
Boliva	825.1	72.2	2.0%
Guatemala	422.5	26.3	3.5%

Table 1: Agriculture subsidies in selected countries

Corporations benefiting from public subsidies include the world's biggest and wealthiest agribusiness corporations such as Yara (the world's largest fertiliser corporation), Bayer Corporation (the parent company of Monsanto), Syngenta, Cargill and JBS. Many of the subsidies provided to farmers also ultimately end up in the pockets of such corporations. One study from Brazil concluded that with 76.1% of the country's soybean supply chain controlled by multinational corporations, subsidies provided to the country's large-scale farmers ended up indirectly financing the multinational corporations, to the detriment of peasant smallholder farmers and the domestic agricultural economy.⁵¹

However, governments in the Global North are providing subsidies to these corporations at a proportionally higher scale. The US has been spending an annual average of US\$ 43.4 billion on agriculture subsidies, the equivalent of US\$ 132 per person each year. The scale of the corporate capture over the years can

iii. The average annual cost of primary school education in sub-Saharan Africa is US\$ 306 per child.



This calculation is based on the OECD's calculation of Producer Support Estimate (PSE) for agriculture. For agriculture subsidies, PSE includes support provided to agribusiness corporations through tax relief and benefits (counted as foregone tax revenue); support for farmers to purchase inputs such as agrochemicals and seeds; and subsidies that allow farmers or corporations to sell their produce a guaranteed price.

be seen through the US-based Good Jobs First Subsidy Tracker. Going back more than a decade, the US government has provided Cargill with more than US\$ 164 million in total, JBS with US\$ 32 million, and Bayer-Monsanto with US\$ 852 million. The issue is rife in Europe as well. According to Friends of the Earth Netherlands, Yara Corporation has been receiving an average of €1.2 billion each year in Dutch subsidies in the form of tax rebates,⁵² in addition to tens of millions in ordinary subsidies.⁵³ These subsidies are directly linked to the climate harm caused by Yara's fertilisers, with tax rebates linked to the natural gas on which fertiliser production depends.

PUBLIC SUBSIDIES FOR FOSSIL FUELS

ActionAid's analysis of public subsidies provided by Global South governments to fossil fuels reveals that:

- The fossil fuel sector directly benefited from an estimated annual average of US\$ 438.6 billion each year in publicly-financed subsidies from Global South countries in the years between 2016 and 2023.4
- This means that every year the fossil fuel sector is accessing public funds that could provide primary school education to all children in sub-Saharan Africa more than 2.3 times over.

(For more information on selected countries' per capita subsidy spending on fossil fuels, see the section "A rocky road for renewable energy investment".)

Fossil fuel corporations such as Shell are benefiting from subsidies (including tax incentives) from countries across the Global South, either as part of economic measures to encourage foreign direct investment or as direct support to the oil and gas sector. In Malaysia, for example, tax exemptions and allowances are targeted at oil and gas industry corporations to encourage upstream activities, while in the Philippines oil and gas companies benefit from corporate tax exemptions designed to attract foreign investment.⁵⁴

However, it is governments in the Global North that continue to disproportionately fuel the climate crisis. **Even though the Global North has just one quarter of the world's population, their annual average fossil fuel subsidies came to US\$ 239.7 billion** in the years between 2016 and 2023. Between 2016-2023, Shell and its subsidiaries received a total of US\$ 500 million in subsidies, federal loans and guarantees in the US.⁵⁵ Contracts for EU grants to Shell and regional subsidiaries came to €300 million in the same period.⁵⁶ Shell has received a further £590 million in tax rebates from the UK government since 2015.⁵⁷

The true cost to the public purse is far greater than the cost of these direct subsidies, however. When the cost of recovering from devastating climate impacts, as well as addressing the extensive environmental and social harm caused by fossil fuels is also included as the "implicit" accounting of fossil fuel subsidies, these total fossil fuel subsidies were found to amount to a staggering US\$7 trillion globally in 2022. Escalating climate impacts mean this figure has increased almost every year since the Paris Agreement, and is expected to rise to US\$8.2 trillion by 2030, according to the latest estimates by the IMF.⁵⁸

Recent evidence also suggests that Global South governments have seen fuel subsidies draining their public budgets, particularly since the invasion of Ukraine in 2022. In Senegal, fuel subsidies amounted to 4% of GDP in 2022, while fuel subsidies in Angola cost the equivalent of 40% of their social programmes.⁵⁹

The volatile costs of fuel subsidies have prompted some counties to re-think their approach. Fuel subsidy phase-out must be done extremely carefully, however. In Nigeria, for example, the sudden removal of fuel subsidies in May 2023 amid a cost-of-living crisis prompted widespread protests,⁶⁰ and eventually their

iv. This calculation is based on "explicit" subsidies, which can include direct support to fossil fuel corporations (e.g. favourable tax treatment for fossil fuel extraction, risk transfer instruments such as loan guarantees, energy-related services provided by governments); as well as contributions to lowering consumer prices of fossil fuels (e.g. rebates to households for energy purchases).



reinstatement.⁶¹ A similar story in Kenya earlier this year also offers important lessons on the need to take a progressive and feminist Just Transition approach to shifting subsidies, that addresses and does not exacerbate inequality. (See more about Kenya's example in the sub-section "Rocky road for renewable energy investment" below, as well as "Just Transition principles for shifting finance" in Section 3.)

PUBLIC FUNDS FUELLING PUBLIC HARM

As the evidence shows, the fossil fuel and industrial agriculture sectors have an iron grip on the energy and agriculture policies and budgets of the same Global South countries that suffer the worst impacts of the climate harm wreaked by these industries. UN agencies have found that 87% of agriculture subsidies are environmentally harmful,⁶² while the IMF agrees that fossil fuel subsidies are "fuel to the fire" of the climate crisis.

In the Global South, corporate control over policymaking has resulted in a lack of thriving alternative systems of agroecological farming and renewable energy. Governments thus continue to channel their already-scarce public finances to the influential and ever-present corporations.

Ostensibly, these subsidies are allocated with the aim of lowering prices and improving people's access to food and energy. Indeed, farmers and the public, especially those on lower incomes, often rely on such subsidies (especially those targeted at farmers and consumers) to lower the costs of the agrochemical fertilisers or gasoline on which they are currently dependent.

But while the use of public subsidies to strengthen communities' access to food and energy can often be motivated in the public interest, the **unquestioning public financing of climate-destructive fossil fuel and industrial agribusiness instead of people-centred climate solutions for food and energy, is short-sighted and self-defeating.**

The accumulating planet-heating greenhouse gases, ecological destruction and land grabs caused by these industries threaten the climate stability, food security, livelihoods, access to water and rights of people – particularly of those already marginalised and living in poverty – in the immediate and mid-term, and are relentlessly pushing our planet to the brink of survival. It is therefore not in the interests of people or nations to use scarce public funds to fuel addiction to the industries that are doing them the most harm.

Fossil fuel and industrial agriculture corporations are taking the lion's share of available public resources. Public funds are being channelled towards these climate-destructive industries instead of towards alternative and democratic climate solutions such as renewables and agroecology to ensure food security, energy access and livelihoods. This corporate capture of public finance undermines the opportunity for just, feminist transitions to take place. Subsidy allocations are creating dependency on systems that are accelerating the climate crisis and harming communities, amounting to a misuse of public funds.

Furthermore, with subsidies paid for by taxpaying citizens in the Global South boosting the operating environment for multinational corporations, it is mostly corporate shareholders in the Global North who reap the profits. Ultimately scarce public resources in some of the world's poorest nations are enriching elites in the Global North instead of safeguarding people's rights.

A ROCKY ROAD FOR RENEWABLE ENERGY INVESTMENT

New ActionAid analysis also looks at volumes of public renewable energy investment in a number of key countries, and compares this to public subsidy provision for fossil fuels.

ActionAid's new analysis of data between 2016 and 2021 finds that:

- Public renewable energy investment in the Global South has come to an average annual of US\$ 10.3 billion each year.^v
- However renewable energy investment in the Global South has been on a worrying downward trend, more than halving from US\$ 15 billion in 2016 to \$US 7 billion in 2021, likely due to the growing number of countries facing debt distress.
- Across the Global South, average annual public renewable energy investment has been less than 1/40th that of public subsidy financing for fossil fuels.





Average annual public investment in renewable energy in the Global South:

US\$ 10.3bn

In The available figures for renewable energy investment count government public funds, Official Development Assistance (ODA) and financial flows from multilateral banks and bilateral agreements, while also excluding figures for tax relief. This means that national governments are giving less than the numbers indicated here, and that these figures are not exactly comparable to explicit public subsidy figures that we use to assess public subsidies to fossil fuels. Nonetheless, looking at these numbers side-by-side reveals an interesting and indicative way to assess governments' commitment to scaling up renewable energy, through which we can draw some interesting observations.





Comparing average annual fossil fuel subsidies with per capita public investment in renewable energy (2016-2021)

The figures in the table graphic above spotlight some interesting stories at national level.

In fossil fuel producing countries such as South Africa, Bangladesh and Nigeria, the public purse has been heavily subsidising the fossil fuel sector while showing minimal support for renewables, with annual average fossil fuel subsidies many times the per capita level of investment in renewable energy.

Meanwhile, Kenya's stated ambition to be a global leader in renewable energy is borne out by the finding that per capita investment in renewables in the country is outspending public subsidy provision to fossil fuels.⁶³ However the Kenyan government's recent regressive approach to shifting subsidies provides a vital cautionary tale that other countries must heed.

In 2024, the reduction of subsidies for petrol, kerosine and diesel - which were designed to help Kenyan consumers on low incomes to access their fuel needs - has resulted in protests across the country, especially by people living in poverty. When cutting consumer subsidies, the government explicitly stated its intention to prioritise and protect subsidies benefiting fossil fuel producers.⁶⁴ This means that wealthy profit-making corporations continued to receive public financing, while the poorest people in the country suffered the disproportional costs of rising fuel prices. While Kenya has made significant gains in encouraging renewable energy investment, this has not yet resulted in society being able to access and afford clean fossil-free means of transport, cooking and lighting.

FUND OUR

The backlash generated by Kenya's approach to shifting subsidies (which was finally reversed after months of protest) underlines the critical importance of progressive and feminist Just Transition principles when reallocating subsidies. Shifts in public financing must be carefully sequenced to protect the rights of people – especially women – living in poverty. Any reductions in fossil fuel subsidies should target the wealthy corporations first. Accessible and democratic alternatives (such as renewable energy) and social protection measures must be implemented to help people on low incomes. Only once these are in place should progressive policies be shifted. (*More information on the just transition principles needed to govern just transition financing shifts can be found in "Part 3: Shifting finance flows: Ensuring a just transition."*)

The Gambia, Brazil and Senegal were found to be encouraging renewable energy investment on a scale that is almost comparable to the per capita public subsidy provision for fossil fuels. However the urgent need for the shift to renewable energy to be governed by feminist Just Transition principles is also highlighted in Brazil, where famers' rights are at risk from land grabs caused by the scaling up of wind farms. (*See also Part 3*.)



Despite a multi-season drought in Somaliland that has had affected food security across the Horn of Africa region, Habiiba Mohamed Ahmed, 52, is successfully able to harvest fruit and other crops thanks to solar-powered irrigation on her farm in Ceel-Hume.



LACK OF PUBLIC FINANCING FOR AGROECOLOGY

Even though agroecology has been proven to be a transformative approach of the food system, financing to the Global South channelled through ODA towards agroecology is completely insufficient in both quantity and quality. Green Climate Fund (GCF) projects dedicated to transformative agroecology only accounted for 10.6% of the total invested in agricultural projects, while support towards agroecology by the EU channelled through the Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO), the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD) and the World Food Programme (WFP) between 2016 and 2018 accounted for just 2.7%.⁶⁵

ActionAid's recent 2024 analysis of the European Investment Bank (EIB) – the world's largest multilateral bank – indicates a strong bias towards the climate-harming industrial agribusiness sector. At the end of 2023, the EIB had €5 billion outstanding loans to the agriculture and forestry sector, with an estimated €800 million of these loans going to agribusiness projects outside the EU.⁶⁶ A number of case studies demonstrate that the EIB does not seem to prioritise support for sustainable agriculture, instead financing projects in support of export commodities, unsustainable agricultural and industrial practices, and large opaque companies. Meanwhile the EIB fails to ensure adequate environmental and human rights impacts assessments and prefers to trust in financial intermediaries that lack accountability or clear public development and environmental mandates.

These trends suggest that there is a systemic lack of support for agroecological approaches through international and multilateral finance, which is likely to be mirrored at the national level through domestic public financial support.

ZAMBIA AND ZIMBABWE: A TALE OF TWO COUNTRIES

Global data on public financing of agroecology is not available, as very few countries have made this information public. However a look at two particular countries where ActionAid has undertaken national level research into public financing of agroecology and industrial agriculture can provide insights into the financial implications of contrasting policy choices.

The rising costs of fossil-fuel based fertilisers in recent years, the ineffectiveness of expensive agrochemical inputs in the face of climate change impacts, and advocacy by farmers' movements on the front lines of the climate crisis, have led several African governments to increasingly recognise the value of agroecological practices in ensuring adaptation and food security.

Unfortunately, policy support for agroecology is not usually matched with the finance required to scale up practices on the ground. It is often undermined by contradictory budgeting that reflects a systemic bias towards subsidising climate-harming industrial agriculture inputs.

After many years of commitment to industrial agriculture and high levels of public spending on fertilisers, Zimbabwe has recently become a pioneer in adopting progressive agroecology policies. Rising fertiliser prices tied to high fossil fuel costs triggered by the war in Ukraine, along with currency devaluations that created further barriers to imports, have contributed to this shift in direction. Combined with rising temperatures and lower rainfall, this has spurred the country to recently take proactive measures based on agroecology that can give farmers the alternative tools and knowledge to secure their food security and farming livelihoods without relying on expensive fertilisers that increase crops' vulnerability to climate change.

Indeed, when it comes to subsidy allocations, there is a noticeable difference between the agricultural budget practices of Zimbabwe and its neighbour in Southern Africa, Zambia. Like many African countries, Zambia continues to commit the vast bulk of its agricultural budget to subsidising climate-harming fossil fuel fertilisers. Meanwhile, Zimbabwe's stronger policy commitment to agroecology is also starting to be reflected

in its budget allocation, although there is still some way to go. Nonetheless, Zimbabwe is almost certainly a global outlier when it comes to its level of investment in agroecology.

Zambia:

- 80% of Zambia's national agriculture budget was allocated to the input supply programme for the year 2023-24, largely providing synthetic fertilisers and commercial seeds for farmers.
- Only 6% of Zambia's Agriculture Ministry's Agricultural Development and Productivity Programme could be considered to be spent on supporting farmers to adopt the agroecological practices that strengthen soil fertility, which enable them to shift away from dependence on agrochemical inputs.^{vi}

Zimbabwe:

- An estimated **50% of Zimbabwe's national agriculture budget was allocated towards subsidising** industrial agribusiness inputs such as fertilisers and seeds in the year 2023-24.
- Meanwhile, **34% of Zimbabwe's agriculture budget is likely to be supporting farmers to adopt the key agroecological practices** that can help farmers to shift away from climate-destructive agrochemicals.



vi. This data is drawn from the findings and underlying data used to develop the report "Agroecology in Southern Africa: Financing the Transition". Here we spotlight the report's assessment of government allocation of finance to the HLPE principles of "reducing inputs", "recycling" and "soil health", as well as the report's findings on subsidy allocation to agricultural inputs.



The corpse of a camel that succumbed to the elements in Somaliland amid the worst drought in decades. CREDIT ActionAid

PART 3. SHIFTING FINANCE FLOWS: ENSURING A JUST TRANSITION

The current scale of public subsidies for climate destructive industries presents both worrying concerns and exciting opportunities. The potential good news is that subsidy reform to shift public financing away from the two biggest causes of climate change – fossil fuels and agribusiness - can free up huge amounts of public finance to scale up public investment in urgent climate, food and energy solutions such as agroecology and renewable energy.

The transition to new forms of energy and food systems, and any accompanying re-allocations in public finance will affect a diverse range of stakeholders, however.

If not carried out with appropriate care and justice, the transition can disproportionally affect marginalised communities, threaten already-precarious livelihoods, and trigger understandable resistance. People living in poverty already spend a disproportionately large share of their income on food and energy. Communities dependent on farming and fossil fuel extraction labour, low-income communities, and communities on the front lines of the climate crisis, are likely to be affected by shifts in policy and public financing. They can be particularly vulnerable to price rises and often lack access to decision-making and information.

Key lessons must be learned from previous experiences which have failed to take sufficient "Just Transition" measures. In 2019, for example, Ecuador's government tried to remove diesel and gasoline subsidies, resulting in political insurgency that swept the country. Similar attempts to remove subsidies in India, Indonesia, Egypt and Jordan over the past 15 years have also been faced with mass protests and riots,⁶⁷ in addition to the examples of Kenya and Nigeria which have already been referenced in this report. (See sections above on "Public financing for fossil fuels" and "a rocky road for renewable energy investment".)

It is therefore essential to understand the political and social implications of shifting policies and subsidies from fossil fuels and industrial agriculture, and to take careful measures to smooth the transition and address potential challenges in ways that are socially and economically fair.⁶⁸ Shifting finance is part of the Just Transition and must therefore also be governed by Just Transition principles.

Feminist Just Transitions must follow the following four principles, as defined by ActionAid in the 2020 briefing "Principles for Just Transitions in Extractives and Agriculture."69

- Addressing and not exacerbating inequalities;
- Transforming systems to work for people, nature and the climate;
- Ensuring inclusiveness and participation;
- Developing comprehensive plans and policy frameworks.

In doing so, marginalised communities, particularly women, must be at the centre of plans and planning, to ensure a clear **feminist analysis of potential impacts**, and to avoid exacerbating gender inequalities. Relevant community organisations and unions should actively participate in policy development to ensure that perspectives are properly listened to and addressed, for example through collective bargaining. Subsidy reform to phase out support for fossil fuels and harmful industrial agriculture must be paired with supportive mechanisms that prioritise the needs of potentially affected communities, especially workers, low-income communities, women and youth. Social movements can and must play a key role in ensuring governments' accountability, and their **participation** in shaping just transitions is crucial.

Careful sequencing must ensure that negative impacts, how they are distributed, and who will be most affected are mapped first, before any potentially risky shifts are initiated. Phasing out fossil fuel subsidies which are aimed at encouraging fossil fuel production and consumption are likely to have an impact on the employment and livelihoods of many workers in the sector. At the same time, they may also affect the disposable income of low-income households, who tend to rely on such subsidies the most.

Similarly, shifting farming systems away from intensive production must avoid creating new risks for workers and farmers in terms of wages or working conditions, and must take into account the concerns of marginalised and young people so that they can get into and stay in farming.

The plan to phase out climate-damaging subsidies must therefore ensure alternatives and protection mechanisms are in place first, beginning with initial investment and support for programmes that deliver climate-friendly and people-centred **food and energy systems** (such as agroecology and renewable energy), as well as clear plans for **economic diversification** based on sustainable options, through strategies such as **capacity building**, marketing support, and employment provision.

Strengthened social protection systems, safety nets and compensation schemes that can scale up as required must also be in place, along with **effective communication** and strategies to engage **stakeholders**, particularly those most at risk.

Climate finance provided by wealthy countries in the Global North can and must play a key part in setting up the foundations so that these finance shifts can take place.

Once these foundational elements for a just transition are in place, corporate subsidies should be targeted for reductions first, particularly those directly benefitting fossil fuel producers, agricultural input producers, or commodity traders. To complement this process, governments should aim to regulate corporate power and implement progressive taxation so that companies are paying fair taxes on their profits, thereby contributing to the public purse that can then support social protection and other initiatives to ensure a just transition. At present, too often, the largest fossil fuel and industrial agriculture companies are able to export their profits to tax havens and pay little or no tax.

Action in this area can include policy reprioritisation away from export commodity crops which generate limited economic or food security for communities, or halting support for new fossil fuel infrastructure projects that risk locking Global South countries into building expensive and debt-dependent infrastructure that may well become outdated and unusable 'stranded assets'.



Progressive subsidies that support low -income communities to afford fossil fuels and industrial agriculture products can then be phased out once communities have access to climate-friendly alternatives.

There is no single strategy for reforming fossil fuels and industrial agriculture subsidies, but measures to cope with the adverse impacts of subsidy policy reform and provision of the necessary resources to encourage participation in the alternatives will be essential.

Specific measures for shifting subsidies from industrial agriculture and fossil fuels can include:

- Social protection: Ensuring social protection enables people to access compensation for increased costs of rising prices, or to diversify their income and take gainful risks if their livelihoods are affected. e.g. Cash transfers to compensate for higher costs or loss of income, unemployment protection, social health protection, pension continuity and coverage, options for early retirement, food transfers, job guarantees, public employment programmes, cash or food for work, minimum crop price guarantees.
- Access to alternatives: Putting in place measures that mean people are no longer dependent on fossil fuels, fertilisers, pesticides and hybrid seeds and can access democratic and affordable climate solutions for food and energy in their place. E.g. composting, organic fertilisers; bio-pesticides; diverse local seed varieties; expanded public transport; access to renewable energy-based sources (including mini-grids and access points for households and communities) for electricity, lighting, cooking and small businesses; and thriving local economies that reduce travel distances.
- **Training and reskilling:** e.g. Providing capacity building in alternatives such as agroecology and farming inputs in line with agroecological principles, progressively eliminating synthetic chemical fertilisers and pesticides, encouraging techniques including natural soil fertility, bio-pesticides, participatory seed breeding; training in use, maintenance and repair of renewable energy infrastructure.
- **Gender responsiveness:** e.g. Assess the gendered impacts of reforms (e.g. impact of subsidies reform on women smallholder farmers; or impact of reforming subsidies for cooking gas which is predominantly used by women). Gender-responsive employment support, gender-responsive extension services that value women as smallholder farmers, their food production and their indigenous knowledge, and respect and ease their domestic and family roles and responsibilities. Guaranteeing land tenure and access to land, especially for women.
- Support for economic diversification and access to new markets: Supporting farmers to access markets and undertake marketing, provision of reliable information about markets and competitive pricing, including training, marketing and managing cooperatives. Strong market linkages within communities and between rural and urban areas; information management systems that allow farmers to plan their production, agro-processing, commercialisation and marketing; associations (co-operatives) of small-holder farmers that facilitate economies of scale, better access to markets and greater bargaining power. Development of local post-harvesting technologies, especially agro-processing and storage technologies that guarantee value addition locally and food availability throughout the year.
- **Public procurement:** Leveraging the considerable purchasing power of public institutions to consolidate economic alternatives, e.g. requiring a percentage of food to be grown using agroecological techniques and produced in local farming cooperatives, or for electricity to be supplied by local renewable energy cooperatives.
- Facilitating **community collaboration:** e.g. Supporting complementary specialisms, sharing infrastructure and machinery for value addition
- **Regulating corporate power** to ensure accountability for harm caused and to loosen corporate control over subsidies, taxes and policies.
- Ensuring **progressive taxation** on income and wealth to raise funds while ensuring that those with the most responsibility for GHG emissions (Polluter Pays Principle) or those with the greatest ability to pay, are contributing the most.
- Effective **communication and participation** that reaches and helps those most likely to be affected, so they can be fully prepared and informed about alternative strategies they can access.

BOX 5:

A JUST AND DEMOCRATIC ENERGY REVOLUTION

The deployment of renewable energy infrastructure must be done with just transition principles front and centre.

Certain renewable energy technologies, such as wind or solar farms, can require large areas of land. If not planned carefully, these dynamics risk reproducing or aggravating extractive and colonial systems that put the interests of international corporations before the needs of local communities.

In Brazil, privatisation of land for renewable energy infrastructure is leading to land grabbing from public and common lands.⁷⁰ The renewable energy sector risks reproducing the playbook of big agribusiness, which have a long history of land grabbing for cattle ranching and soybean production in Brazil.

Scaling up of renewable energy must therefore be accompanied by strong social and environmental safeguards that particularly consider the risk of impacts on women and girls.

The jump to renewable energy also raises concerns related to the mining of critical minerals. These risk perpetuating resource dependence, while intensifying environmental and social impact on vulnerable communities, predominantly in the Global South.

The mineral extraction that is so closely tied to the scaling up of renewable energy, must therefore be paired with an equitable and feminist just transition that prioritises safeguarding affected communities and ecosystems, that adds value domestically and does not reproduce the extractive dynamics of the fossil fuel mining industry.⁷¹

If done correctly, renewable energy can lend itself to a democratic approach that meets communities' needs. Diversified production can deliver energy as a common good, in contrast to the profit priorities of fossil fuel corporations.

Unlike the necessarily centralised and large-scale infrastructure associated with fossil fuels, energy from the sun, wind and water can instead be harnessed virtually everywhere. Rooftop solar panels, small-scale wind farms and micro-hydro generators mean that energy can be generated, controlled, used and potentially sold by communities, cooperatives – even individual households. Public buildings such as schools, hospitals and universities can also become producers of energy. Control and ownership over electricity in the hands of households, small and medium-size enterprises, communities and public institutions, in a mosaic of connected or island mini-grids, has profound and exciting implications.

This "energy democracy" revolution is a step that can and must take place alongside the renewable energy revolution⁷² and a reduction in energy consumption in the Global North (i.e., modal shift from private towards public transportation). Before roll-out of these technologies, we need social programmes to ensure equitable and feminist just transitions, through inclusive participation, education, training and empowerment of communities. Communities must be able to effectively participate in, shape, control and sustain this energy revolution.



A women navigates her flooded community in the Niger Delta. CREDIT: Nora Awolowo/ActionAid

PART 4. SOURCING AND SCALING-UP PUBLIC FINANCE FOR CLIMATE ACTION

National subsidy reform presents an exciting opportunity to unleash financing for democratic climate solutions that meet people's food and energy needs, while also being essential for leaving behind the climate-destructive activities that are pushing our planet to the brink and harming communities. For Global South countries, redirecting public funding away from multinational corporations and instead channelling this towards people-led solutions also offers clear additional economic advantages.

Given the historical and disproportional responsibility of wealthy countries in the Global North for causing climate change, however, the question of financing climate action is clearly a global issue that goes beyond the borders of climate-impacted countries.

Even though most Global South countries have done very little to contribute to the climate crisis, the spiralling costs of climate destruction continue to push them deeper into poverty and debt. Given that many lack the necessary resources to recover from and prepare for disasters, the additional costs of cutting emissions to help cool the planet are beyond the reach of most countries. Unless real climate finance for climate action is scaled up urgently, action needed simply can't happen at the scale needed to avert runaway climate breakdown.

By any fair logic, the costs of climate action should not be the burden of those most harmed and least responsible. Wealthy countries therefore not only have the obligation to cut their own outsized emissions as rapidly as possible, but also to provide far more real financial support to developing countries to both cope with climate change and be part of the solution.

The already-industrialised Global North continues to expand its climate-destructive activities and pollute the planet business-as-usual, however, while repeatedly breaking its promises to provide climate finance.

Of the climate finance that so called "developed" Global North countries have provided to so-called "developing" countries of the Global South, most of this has been in the form of loans rather than grants.⁷³ This is in the form of both concessional (low-interest rate) loans and higher interest loans which opportunistically and cynically generate profits for rich countries. Oxfam has estimated that of the climate finance provided by rich countries in 2022, more than two-thirds was in the form of loans, and that grant finance amounted to only between \$28 billion and \$35 billion.⁷⁴

Previous ActionAid analysis has found that 93% of all climate-vulnerable countries are facing debt traps, with debt repayments taking a large piece of their national budgets.⁷⁵ As a result, external debt acts as an accelerator of the climate crisis – forcing climate vulnerable countries to raise dollars or other foreign currencies – which in the present global economy is most easily delivered through supporting extractive industries such as fossil fuels and harmful industrial agriculture, which contribute massively to climate change and undermine local ecosystems, rights, food systems, livelihoods and access to water.

Debt-distressed countries are effectively blocked from becoming part of the solution to the climate crisis. Debt forces them into the hands of the IMF who impose austerity policies, so that governments are unable to invest in mitigation, adaptation or loss and damage, and are unable to provide basic public services such as health and education. This then takes a particular toll on women and girls, who are most disadvantaged by austerity and cuts in public service and disproportionally impacted by climate change.

Comparing climate finance provided to the Global South, to the public financing received by climatedestructive sectors in the Global South, reveals some worrying trends.

New ActionAid analysis reveals that:

• Climate finance grants provided by Global North countries to help Global South countries address climate change are so minimal that they still only come to less than 1/20th of public financing going to fossil fuel and industrial agriculture industries in the Global South. Climate finance is essential to help countries transition away from these climate-destructive sectors.^{vii}

In spite of wealthy countries' climate rhetoric, their climate finance flows are failing to provide sufficient support for Global South countries to transition to alternatives. As a result, the fossil fuel and industrial agriculture sectors continue to exert a stranglehold on the economies, policies and budgets of the countries on the front lines of the climate crisis.



vii. In this calculation we have compared the mid-point of Oxfam's grant-based climate finance numbers for 2022 (US\$ 31.5 billion) with the annual average public finance provided to the fossil fuel and industrial agriculture sectors in the Global South over the years 2016-2022. We have chosen to use the most recent and highest available climate finance figures for this comparison, in part because data is not available for the years 2016-2018. We note that grant-based climate finance has moderately increased over the years, so a true comparison would show an even greater contrast. Oxfam defines the "real value" of climate finance as Climate Specific Net Assistance (CSNA), and does not include non-concessional loans.



As a way to address this disparity, governments convening under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) will meet at COP29 in Baku, Azerbaijan in November this year, to agree a New Collective Quantified Goal (NCQG) on climate finance.

Even if the world takes urgent and sufficient action to limit warming to an average 1.5°C, fair reparations for the costs to the Global South caused by past decades of excessive pollution in the Global North, combined with projected escalating impacts, have been calculated to come to US\$ 192 trillion by 2050.⁷⁶ As an annual average, this would come to US\$ 5trillion owed to the Global South every year by wealthy countries of the Global North. The NCQG target must be considered in the light of this climate debt, and viewed as an opportunity to reset the planet's future through a new commitment for climate ambition based on trillions of dollars per year, not the meagre billions currently provided.

At an international level, discussions about climate finance are often reduced to *"How do we pay for it?"* But truthfully, this is a **question of distribution, not a challenge of availability**. There is a wealth of resources available - particularly in the rich economies of the Global North – to redirect towards climate action. Sources of finance can include both shifting public money away from fossil fuels and other harmful activities, as well as taking measures based on tax justice principles.⁷⁷

Potential sources of finance for a New Collective Quantified Goal on climate finance include:

- Rich polluting countries with the greatest historic responsibility for the climate crisis could raise at least US\$539 billion, and up to US\$2.15 trillion every year by increasing tax-to-GDP ratios by 1 to 4 percentage points. These increases in tax revenue would have to be delivered through progressive, gender responsive and climate sensitive tax measures, and channelled through financial entities governed by the UNFCCC, so it is accounted for under the NCQG and focused on supporting the most climate-vulnerable countries.
- Coordinated **global action on tax** could also raise trillions of dollars more in public finance. All of this bold and progressive action on tax justice depends in part on a reform to global tax rules. It will be important to ensure that there is a strong gender equality and climate justice perspective integrated into the UN Framework Convention on Tax which is presently being developed.
- Other approaches to progressive taxation might include: windfall taxes to large global corporations; wealth taxes of 3-5% on the world's wealthiest elites which could raise US\$1.7 trillion a year; higher income tax on the Top 1% taxing the richest individuals at 60% on their incomes, which would generate US\$6.4 trillion a year; financial transactions taxes, levied globally at 0.05% could generate an estimated \$650bn a year; up to US\$392 billion could be generated annually from a combination of shipping and aviation levies as estimated the UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment.
- Reallocating **military spending:** As an example, the G7 allocates US\$1.2 trillion per year on military spending, which could be rechannelled towards climate finance.⁷⁸

Furthermore, if current exploitative international policies relating to taxes and debt are reversed through work on the new UN Framework Convention on Tax, this would enable Global South countries to generate additional domestic revenue for climate action and public services.

If the IMF, the World Bank and Global North governments and banks were to finally cancel the unfair and exploitative debt arrangements in which they currently bind much of the Global South, this would free up massive amounts of public revenue in Global South countries. **Debt cancellation** would then allow governments to make rational decisions to pursue climate-friendly solutions to meeting people's food and energy needs, no longer burdened by the need to pursue commodity-based economies for the sake of earning foreign currency to meet debt repayments.

Many Global South countries would prefer to leverage fairer rates of taxation on multinational corporations - not least, the fossil fuel and industrial agriculture corporations. If the top-third most climate vulnerable countries increased their tax-to-GDP ratios by five percentage points they could raise an additional US\$341 billion every year.⁷⁹ This should become more realistic in the coming years as the unfair global tax rules set over the past 60 years by the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) are replaced by the new UN Framework Convention on Tax, which African countries have particularly fought for. This new UN framework is still being developed but should come into force in 2027, offering a ray of hope as it should enable Global South countries to make their own decisions about taxation, and secure a fairer share of the global profits made by big multinationals. Global North countries must stop attempting to block the development of this UN Framework Convention on Tax, however.⁸⁰

Scaling up financial resources for climate action must be framed under a wider finance system transformation. The overall global financial architecture is clearly outdated, dominated by colonial institutions such as the IMF that were set up after the Second World War, and before the independence of most African countries. The 2025 UN Financing for Development process offers an opportunity to overhaul this architecture, with campaigners calling for an end to the IMF's power over debt and austerity, and the creation of a new UN mechanism for addressing debt crises. These wider system reforms are essential if we are to deliver on the goals of the Paris Agreement through equitable and feminist just transitions.



Finegirl at the Shell oil well on her family's land in Ehrobaro, Nigeria. The local community suffer from the pollution and noise caused by oil drilling. CREDIT: Daniel Jukes, ActionAid

PART 5. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Fixing the world's finance flows will be key to addressing the climate crisis. The corporate capture of public finance is deepening inequality, failing to deliver benefits for society and worsening the climate crisis.

As a result, the Global South is dealing with endless and repeated droughts, floods, rising sea levels, unbearable heatwaves, devastating cyclones, landslides, erratic weather patterns that lead to crop failures and more. And it is always the people living in poverty, who have done so little to cause climate change, who pay for it with their loss of livelihoods, their lands, their hunger and their lives.

Addressing the climate crisis will take far more honesty, vision and courage than our leaders are showing.

Current draft recommendations to the UN's Summit for the Future, being held in New York this September, only pay lip service to reforming the international financial architecture and raising finance for climate action. The recommendations talk of mobilising more private finance and loans, instead of calling for the real solutions of grant-based climate finance, debt cancellation, tax justice reforms, regulation of private finance, and re-allocation of public subsidies.

In November, COP29 UN climate negotiations in Baku, Azerbaijan will be a critical fork in the road for the planet's future. The wealthy countries of the Global North must end the façade of talking about climate action, while being unwilling to pay to make it happen. It is in the interest of all countries – South and North - for the Global North to contribute enough grant-based climate finance to help climate-vulnerable countries to cope with climate impacts, leapfrog past fossil fuel and industrial agriculture-based economies, and adopt low-emission development pathways. COP29's NCQG goal for climate finance must come to the multiple trillions of dollars each year in grant form.

Governments of the Global South know full well that the cost of the climate crisis is already pushing them into spiralling debt and cuts to public services. It is time for them to stand up to the fossil fuel and industrial agriculture industries that are causing climate change, grabbing communities' lands, destroying ecosystems and taking the lion's share of public finances.

It's time to fix the finance flows that are failing us all.

FUND OUR

RECOMMENDATIONS TO SHIFT THE FINANCE AND FUND OUR FUTURE:

- **Public finance:** All countries across Global South and North must accelerate the shift away from climate-destructive fossil fuel and industrial agriculture, towards people-led climate solutions that safeguard people's rights, deliver accountability, and ensure public participation in decision-making processes. In addition to corporate regulation, climate-centred energy and agriculture policies, and just transition approaches, public finance must be redirected away from the causes of climate change towards the real solutions. Priority areas for public financing must include the scaling up of decentralised renewable energy systems to provide energy access, and gender-responsive extension services that offer training in agroecology and support for marketing.
- 2 **Climate finance:** Wealthy countries must provide trillions of dollars in grant-based climate finance each year to Global South countries on the front lines of the climate crisis, including by agreeing to an ambitious new climate finance goal at COP29 that reflects this scale.
- **3 Private finance:** Climate transition plans consistent with a 1.5°C climate goal should be mandatory for banks, ending the financing of fossil fuels and harmful industrial agriculture expansion. Governments must regulate the banking and finance sectors to end destructive financing, with regulations that set minimum standards for human rights, social and environmental frameworks.
- **4 Finance system transformation:** Wealthy countries and international financial institutions must implement conditionality-free debt cancellation for countries on the front lines of the climate crisis that need it, and support bold and fair new global tax rules through agreeing a strong UN Framework Convention on Tax.



METHODOLOGY

ActionAid's new analysis, seen for the first time in this report, uses the following data sources, definitions and methodologies:

Agriculture subsidies: Data was compiled from three sources: the Inter-American Development Bank (IADB) Agrimonitor data,⁸¹ the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Agriculture Statistics,⁸² and the United Nation's Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO) Monitoring and Analysing Food and Agricultural Policies (MAPAP) programme.⁸³ This report bases calculations of agriculture subsidies on the OECD's definition of producer support estimate (PSE), chosen as the indicator most representative of direct support to the agribusiness sector. PSE estimates monetary support from payments, tax rebates or other transfers to agricultural producers such as agribusiness corporations and farmers. These measures include support to farmers or corporations so that farmers can purchase agricultural inputs such as fertilisers and seeds at a lower price.

In this report, data was selected for Global South countries where data was available, between 2016 (the year the Paris Agreement was ratified) and 2021 (the last year that data was available.) For some countries, data was missing for some years. Our methodology adjusts for this by using annual averages of available data.

Fossil fuel subsidies: Data was compiled from the International Monetary Fund (IMF) annual reports and datasets of fossil fuel subsidies. This report bases calculations of fossil fuel subsidies on the IMF's definition of "explicit" subsidies. Explicit subsidies can include direct support to fossil fuel corporations (e.g. favourable tax treatment for fossil fuel extraction, risk transfer instruments such as loan guarantees, energy-related services provided by governments); as well as contributions to lowering consumer prices of fossil fuels (e.g. rebates to households for energy purchases).⁸⁴ We have chosen explicit subsidies as the indicator most representative of support to the fossil fuel sector as an estimation of fiscal costs.

In this report, data was selected for Global South countries between 2016 (the year the Paris Agreement was ratified) and 2023 (the last year that data was available.) For some countries, data was missing for some years. Our methodology adjusts for this by using annual averages of available data.

Public investment in renewable energy is drawn from the International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA) database on Renewable Energy Statistics. The coverage of renewable investment covers a wider range of financial flows to the renewable sector beyond direct government subsidies. In particular, the data covers financial flows from development finance institutions (DFIs) (i.e., multilateral, bilateral and non-domestic national institutions); export credit agencies (ECAs); governments and their agencies (i.e., central, state and local); public funds (i.e., national and multilateral climate funds); state-owned enterprises (SOEs) and state-owned financial institutions (SOFIs).

As such, finance flows for "public investments in renewable energy" are not precisely identical in definition to the "fossil fuel subsidy" finance flows used in this report. However, comparing these can still be usefully indicative of the level of government support for the renewable energy sector, compared to the fossil fuel sector.

 \sum of all available subsidy values

Annual Average per Country =

FUND OUR

Number of years where data is available

Global South Annual Average = sum of all Annual Average per Country in the Global South

 $\sum \frac{\text{Subsidy value for year } i}{\text{Population at year } i}$

Subsidies Per Capita per Country =

Number of years where data is available

Analysis of agriculture budgets allocated to agribusiness input supply in Zambia and Zimbabwe draws on data published in the report "Agroecology in Southern Africa: Financing the Transition"⁸⁵ published in August 2024 by the Partnership for Social Accountability Alliance (PSA), a consortium including ActionAid, the East African Small Scale Farmers Forum (ESSAFF), Public Service Accountability Monitor (PSAM) and the Southern Africa AIDS Information Dissemination Service (SAfAIDS).

Analysis of agroecology financing in Zambia and Zimbabwe draws on underlying data gathered for the PSA "Agroecology in Southern Africa: Financing the Transition" report. This report uses the Agroecology Financing Analysis Toolkit (AFAT)⁸⁶ methodology to access and analyse government documents detailing agriculture projects and programmes and their budget allocation, in four countries. Financed agriculture activities were scored according to the agreed FAO HLPE 13 principles of agroecology⁸⁷ to assess the budgetary support being provided to agroecological principles. Although the PSA analysis shows that progress is being made to integrate some agroecological principles into agriculture programming (particularly "fairness", "participation", "co-creation of knowledge" and "economic diversification"), there is still low budget allocation to the fundamental agricultural practices ("reducing inputs", "recycling" and "soil health") that signify a real shift from industrialised agriculture towards a real and comprehensive approach to agroecology.

ActionAid has therefore undertaken additional analysis of the underlying data from Zambia and Zimbabwe to assess the extent to which national agriculture budgets are being allocated to the principles of "recycling," "reducing inputs", and "soil health," the most essential actions for shifting away from dependence on the climate-harming agrochemical fertilisers.

For both countries, the percentage scores on each of the three indicators were added up and divided by three, to identify the agricultural budget allocation towards the agroecological practices that enable farmers to shift away from dependence on agrochemical inputs, by naturally strengthening soil fertility.

HLPE Agroecology Principle	Practice	Zambia score (%)	Zimbabwe score (%)
Recycling	Recycling nutrients and biomass, preferentially using local renewable resources (e.g. application of compost, manure or mulching)	0	22
Reducing inputs	Reduce or eliminate dependency on purchased inputs (eg agrochemical fertilisers, pesticides and herbicides, and corporate hybrid seeds) and increase self-sufficiency	0	32
Soil health	Secure and enhance soil health and functioning for improved plant growth, particularly by managing organic matter and enhancing soil biological activity (e.g. legumes, intercropping, cover crops, crop rotations, compost and organic manure)	17	48
		(0+0+17) /3	(22+32+48) / 3
		5.6 (round up to 6%)	34%

Table 2: ?







Source: https://www.adaptationcommunity.net/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/topic-agroecology-en.jpg



- 1. FAO (2018) The 10 Elements of Agroecology https://www.fao.org/agroecology/overview/overview10elements/en/
- ILO. (2017). World Social Protection Report 2017–19: Universal social protection to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals International Labour Office – Geneva. https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/documents/publication/wcms_604882.pdf.
- 3. Copernicus Climate Change Service / European Centre for Medium-range Weather Forecasts (ECMWF), June 2024, news bulletin, https://climate. copernicus.eu/copernicus-june-2024-marks-12th-month-global-temperature-reaching-15degc-above-pre-industrial (*Note: this year-long statistic does not mean the Paris Agreement threshold has been crossed, as the 1.5°C target concerns a longer-term average over multiple years.*)
- 4. Copernicus Climate Change Service/ European Centre for Medium-range Weather Forecasts (ECMWF),, January 2024, news bulletin https:// climate.copernicus.eu/copernicus-2023-hottest-year-record
- 5. France24, 8th August 2024 "Increasingly likely' that 2024 will be warmest year on record, EU monitor says" https://www.france24.com/en/ environment/20240808-eu-monitor-reveals-2024-increasingly-likely-to-be-warmest-on-record
- 6. UN Women (2018) Turning Promises into Action: Gender Equality in the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, https://www.unwomen.org/ en/digital-library/publications/2018/2/gender-equality-in-the-2030-agenda-for-sustainable-development-2018
- UNDP (2016) Overview of linkages between gender and climate change, https://www.undp.org/sites/g/files/zskgke326/files/migration/africa/ Policy-Brief-Overview-of-linkages-between-gender-and-climate-change.pdf
- Neumayer, E. (2007) The gendered nature of natural disasters https://www.researchgate.net/publication/30523075_The_Gendered_Nature_of_ Natural_Disasters_The_Impact_of_Catastrophic_Events_on_the_Gender_Gap_in_Life_Expectancy_1981-2002
- 9. ActionAid (2016)) Hotter Planet, Humanitarian Crisis, https://actionaid.org/publications/2016/hotter-planet-humanitarian-crisis
- 10. https://actionaid.org/publications/2023/how-finance-flows-banks-fuelling-climate-crisis
- 11. SEI, IISD, ODI, Climate Analytics, CICERO, and UNEP (2019) The Production Gap: The discrepancy between countries' planned fossil fuel production and global production levels consistent with limiting warming to 1.5°C or 2°C, https://productiongap.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/ Production-Gap-Report-2019.pdf p. 8
- 12. IPCC (2022c) Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Working Group III contribution to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg3/downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_WGIIL_FullReport.pdf, p.750. Terrestrial ecosystems (including agricultural land) absorb carbon, so the "net" total emissions from AFOLU is lower than the headline 13-21% figure, although precisely how much lower is difficult to calculate.
- 13. ActionAid (2023) How the Finance Flows: The banks fuelling the climate crisis https://actionaid.org/publications/2023/how-finance-flows-banksfuelling-climate-crisis
- 14. Friends of the Earth International (2021) A Just Recovery Renewable Energy Plan for Africa https://www.foei.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/ Friends-of-the-Earth-Just-Recovery-Renewable-Energy-Plan-for-Africa-2021.pdf
- 15. Reclaim Finance (2022) Who is financing fossil fuel expansion in Africa? https://reclaimfinance.org/site/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/2022.11.15_ Urgewald_Who-is-Financing-Fossil-Fuels-in-Africa.pdf
- 16. Shackleton, R, T. (2020) Loss of land and livelihoods from mining operations: A case in the Limpopo Province, South Africa. Land Use Policy Vol 99
- 17. Hansen, T. A. (2022). Stranded assets and reduced profits: Analyzing the economic underpinnings of the fossil fuel industry's resistance to climate stabilization. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 158, 112144.
- 18. FAO (2014) The State of Food and Agriculture https://www.fao.org/3/i4040e/i4040e.pdf; Wolfensen, K. (2013), Coping with the food and agriculture challenge: Smallholders' agenda https://www.fao.org/3/ar363e/ar363e.pdf; ETC Group (2017), "Who Will Feed Us? The Industrial Food Chain or the Peasant Food Web?", 3rd edition, https://www.etcgroup.org/content/who-will-feed-us-industrial-food-chain-vs-peasant-food-web (For a brief overview of how differing studies and methodologies still ultimately confirm these findings, see p 57 "How the Finance Flows: The banks fuelling the climate crisis" https://actionaid.org/sites/default/files/publications/How%20The%20Finance%20Flows%20Full%20Report.pdf)
- 19. ActionAid (2023) The Vicious Cycle: Connections between the debt crisis and climate crisis https://actionaid.org/publications/2023/vicious-cycle
- 20. IPCC (2023) 6th Assessment Report Synthesis Report Summary for Policy Makers https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/syr/downloads/report/IPCC_ AR6_SYR_SPM.pdf
- 21. IPCC (2023) 6th Assessment Report Summary for Policy Makers https://www.ipcc.ch/srccl/chapter/summary-for-policymakers/
- 22. UN FAO Committee on World Food Security (2020) CFS policy recommendations on agroecological and other innovative approaches for sustainable agriculture and food systems that enhance food security and nutrition https://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/cfs/Docs1920 Agroecology_an_other_innovative/23_July_2020/1CFS_Agroecological_innovative_approaches.pdf
- Dittmer, K. Et al, (2023) Agroecology Can Promote Climate Change Adaptation Outcomes Without Compromising Yield in Smallholder Systemshttps://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00267-023-01816-x
- 24. FAO (2020) The 10 Elements of Agroecology. https://www.fao.org/agroecology/home/en
- Climate, Land, Ambition & Rights Alliance (CLARA) (2018) Missing Pathways to 1.5°C the role of the land sector in ambitious climate action https://static1.squarespace.com/static/610ffde0dd5c39015edc6873/t/6149416b255ef35c1a852f04/1632190830409/ MissingPathwaysCLARAreport_2018r2.pdf

FUND OUR FUTURE

45

- 26. IPCC (2023) 6th Assessment Report Synthesis Report Summary for Policy Makers https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/syr/downloads/report/IPCC_ AR6_SYR_SPM.pdf
- 27. ActionAid (2020) Principles for Just Transitions in Extractives and Agriculture https://actionaid.org/publications/2020/principles-just-transitionsextractives-and-agriculture-shaping-energy-and-food
- Jacobson, M.Z. et al (2022) Low cost solutions to global warming, air pollution and energy insecturity for 145 countries. Energy and Environmental Science, 15 https://web.stanford.edu/group/efmh/jacobson/Articles/I/145Country/22-145Countries.pdf
- 29. Carbon Tracker (2021) The Sky's the Limit: Solar and wind energy potential is 100 times as much as global energy demand https://carbontracker. org/reports/the-skys-the-limit-solar-wind/
- 30. FAO (2012) Smallholders and Family Farmers: Factsheet, http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/nr/sustainability_pathways/docs/Factsheet_ SMALLHOLDERS.pdf
- 31. IPCC (2023) 6th Assessment Report Synthesis Report Summary for Policy Makers, https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/syr/downloads/report/IPCC_ AR6_SYR_SPM.pdf
- 32. UNFCC (2016) The Paris Agreement, https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/parisagreement_publication.pdf
- ActionAid (2023) How the Finance Flows: The Banks Fuelling the Climate Crisis, https://actionaid.org/sites/default/files/publications/How%20 The%20Finance%20Flows%20Full%20Report.pdf
- 34. https://actionaid.org/publications/2024/fair-taxes-can-raise-over-us2-trillion-yearly-climate-vulnerable-communities-says
- 35. IPCC (2023) 6th Assessment Report Synthesis Report Summary for Policy Makers, https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/syr/downloads/report/IPCC_ AR6_SYR_SPM.pdf
- 36. Oxfam (2024) Press Release, https://www.oxfam.org/en/press-releases/rich-countries-overstating-true-value-climate-finance-88-billion-says-oxfam
- 37. ActionAid (2023) How the Finance Flows: The Banks Fuelling the Climate Crisis, https://actionaid.org/sites/default/files/publications/How%20 The%20Finance%20Flows%20Full%20Report.pdf
- 38. UNFCC (2016) The Paris Agreement, https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/parisagreement_publication.pdf
- InfluenceMap (2023) The Oil and Gas Industry's Policy Advocacy in Africa and Europe, https://influencemap.org/report/The-European-Oil-Gas-Industry-in-Europe-Africa-22693
- 40. ActionAid USA and Bretton Woods Project (2021) IMF Surveillance and Climate Change Transition Risks, https://www.actionaidusa.org/news/new-research-reveals-how-imf-policy-advice-undermines-global-climate-goals-by-advising-countries-to-invest-in-fossil-fuels/
- 41. ActionAid (2023) Fifty Years of Failure: The IMF, Debt and Austerity in Africa, https://actionaid.org/publications/2023/fifty-years-failure-imf-debt-and-austerity-africa
- 42. Savage, S., Hacock, A. and Pooler, M. (2024), The global power of Big Agriculture's lobbying, The Financial Times, https://www.ft.com/ content/5f4e0538-10a4-4c8f-bc3c-28f255f20f0b
- 43. Wenzel, F. (2024), Meet the think tank behind agribusiness' legislative wins in Brazil, Mongabay, https://news.mongabay.com/2024/01/meet-the-think-tank-behind-the-agribusiness-legislative-wins-in-brazil/
- 44. Corporate Europe Observatory (2024), Deadly exports, https://corporateeurope.org/en/2024/05/deadly-exports
- 45. InfluenceMap (2022) Japanese and South Korean LNG Industries and Vietnam's Energy Transition, https://influencemap.org/report/Japanese-and-South-Korean-LNG-Industries-and-Vietnam-s-Energy-Transition-19089
- 46. The People's Republic of Bangladesh, The Institute of Energy Economics Japan (IEEJ) (2022) Integrated Energy and Power Master Plan Project in the People's Republic of Bangladesh; The People's Republic of Bangladesh, Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA), Tokyo Electric Power Company (2011) Power System Master Plan 2010.
- 47. FOE (2024) A Risky Bet: The IMF's Role in Mozambique's LNG Development, https://foe.org/blog/a-risky-bet-the-imfs-role-in-mozambiques-Ingdevelopment/
- 48. ActionAid (2023) Fifty Years of Failure: The IMF, Debt and Austerity in Africa, https://actionaid.org/publications/2023/fifty-years-failure-imf-debt-andausterity-africa
- 49. European Commission (2021), Directorate-General for Energy, Lee, L., Rademaekers,K., Bovy,P., et al., Study on energy subsidies and other government interventions in the European Union: final report, https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/be5268ba-3609-11ecbd8e01aa75ed71a1/language-en, https://caneurope.org/content/uploads/2023/03/Fossil-Fuels-Subsidies-Report.pdf
- 50. While national budgets may have been somewhat affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and/or recovery programmes in 202, the distorting effect does not appear to have been significant. Sources for national budgets 2021can be found at the following links: https://www.dhakatribune.com/business/economy/248501/kamal-presents-tk603-681-crore-bangladesh-budget; https://fiskal.kemenkeu.go.id/files/red/file/2021%20State%20 Budget.pdf; https://www.mof.gov.cn/en/reports/202311/P020231128525134611241.pdf; https://pmrczambia.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/ Analysis-2021-Zambia-National-Budget.pdf; https://www.cabri-sbo.org/uploads/bia/Zimbabwe_2021_Approval_External_BudgetSpeech_MinFin_ COMESASADC_English.pdf; https://parliament.gov.mw/uploads/doc_budget_statements/doc_budget_statements_ead3f375-c272-4cb6-9fdac46c9b1f23781702536440865.pdf; https://www.treasury.gov.za/documents/national%20budget/2021/sars/Budget%20201%20Highlights.pdf; https://www.cabri-sbo.org/en/documents/finance-law-2021; https://www.planificacion.gob.bo/uploads/marco-legal/1356_Ley_del_Presupuesto_ General_del_Estado_2021.pdf; https://portaldatransparencia.gov.br/orcamento?ano=2021; https://cien.org.gt/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/ ResumenEjecutivoPresupuesto2021vf.pdf

- Corcioli, G., da Silva Medina, G., Alencar Arrais, C., (2022) "Missing the Target: Brazil's Agricultural Policy Indirectly Subsidises Foreign Investments to the Detriment of Smallholder Farmers and Local Agribusiness", Frontiers, vol 5. https://www.frontiersin.org/journals/sustainable-foodsystems/articles/10.3389/fsufs.2021.796845/full
- 52. Milieu Defensie (2023) Milieudefensie Jong richt pijlen op Yara: 'Ze krijgen 1,2 miljard fossiele subsidie' https://pers.milieudefensie.nl/read/1809/ persaankondiging-milieudefensie-jong-richt-pijlen-op-yara-ze-krijgen-1-2-miljard-fossiele-subsidie#:~:text=Uit%20een%20inventarisatie%20 van%20onderzoeksbureau,fossiele%20subsidies%20af%20te%20bouwen.
- 53. Fayed, S., Smits H. W., (2024), "Lots of subsidies, little in tax: Fertiliser giant Yara faces huge bill in the Netherlands" https://www.ftm.eu/articles/ yara-owes-1-billion-dollars-in-taxes?share=nmVMOSk7kdnlRklhQLBdSQNBe%2FYc948OqGckiTN23XqXr77jK83Wo2RyV5duiqQ%3D
- 54. Shell plc (2022) Annual tax contribution report 2022 https://reports.shell.com/tax-contribution-report/2022/our-approach/tax-incentives. html?tabc=1e2
- 55. Good Jobs First Subsidy Tracker Shell PLC (accessed 23rd August 2024), https://subsidytracker.goodjobsfirst.org/?parent=shell-plc&order=sub_year&sort=
- 56. European Commission (n.d.) Financial Transparency System, https://ec.europa.eu/budget/financial-transparency-system/analysis.html (accessed 22nd August 2024)
- 57. Thomas, A., Energy Voice, 20th March 2024, Shell's tax rebates near \$750m for decommissioning giant Brent oilfield. https://www.energyvoice. com/oilandgas/north-sea/decom/550230/shell-tax-rebates-for-brent-decommissioning/
- IMF (2023) IMF Fossil Fuel Subsidies Data: 2023 Update, https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WP/Issues/2023/08/22/IMF-Fossil-Fuel-Subsidies-Data-2023-Update-537281
- 59. Reuters, 4th July 2023. "Caught between riots and debt crises, African countries cut fuel subsidies" https://www.reuters.com/world/africa/caughtbetween-riots-debt-crises-african-countries-cut-fuel-subsidies-2023-07-04/
- 60. Onyeiwu, S., (2023), The Conversation, https://theconversation.com/nigerias-fuel-subsidy-removal-was-too-sudden-why-a-gradual-approachwould-have-been-better-222224
- Norways, K., & Tracey-Cook, M., (2024) S&P Global, Nigeria reinstates fuel subsidies to cushion against naira weakness: IMF, https://www. spglobal.com/commodityinsights/en/market-insights/latest-news/oil/031924-nigeria-reinstates-fuel-subsidies-to-cushion-against-naira-weaknessimf
- 62. UNEP (2021) UN report calls for repurposing of USD 470 billion of agricultural support that distorts prices, environment and social goals, https:// www.unep.org/news-and-stories/press-release/un-report-calls-repurposing-usd-470-billion-agricultural-support
- 63. IRENA, 4th September 2024 "Kenya Spearheads Landmark Renewable Energy Initiative at Africa Climate Summit" https://www.irena.org/News/ pressreleases/2023/Sep/Kenya-Spearheads-Landmark-Renewable-Energy-Initiative-at-Africa-Climate-Summit
- 64. Al Jazeera, 15th August 2023, Kenya reinstates fuel subsidy after months of violent protests https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2023/8/15/kenyareinstates-fuel-subsidy-after-months-of-violent-protests
- 65. CIDSE (2020), Finance for Agroecology: More than Just a Dream? An assessment of European and International institutions' contributions to food system transformation, https://www.cidse.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/CIDSE-Agroecology-and-Finance-Briefing-Sept-2020-1.pdf
- 66. ActionAid (2024), The European Investment Bank's Development and Climate Finance: What's in it for sustainable agriculture?, https://actionaid. org/sites/default/files/publications/EIB%20Report.pdf
- 67. McCulloch, N., D. Natalini; N. Hossain, and P. Justino (2021) "An Exploration of the Association Between Fuel Subsidies and Fuel Riots", IDS Working Paper 556, Brighton: Institute of Development Studies
- 68. UNDP (2021) Fossil Fuel Subsidy Reform Lessons and Opportunities, https://www.undp.org/publications/fossil-fuel-subsidy-reform-lessons-and-opportunities
- Principles for Just Transitions in Extractives and Agriculture, https://actionaid.org/publications/2020/principles-just-transitionsextractives-andagriculture-shaping-energy-and-food ActionAid (2019) Principles for a Just Transition in Agriculture https://actionaid.org/publications/2019/ principles-just-transition-agriculture; ActionAid (2020)
- 70. UCL (2024) 'Green grabbing' of Brazilian public and common lands a threat, https://www.ucl.ac.uk/news/2024/may/green-grabbing-brazilian-public-and-common-lands-threat
- 71. ActionAid (2020) Principles for Just Transitions in Extractives and Agriculture https://actionaid.org/publications/2020/principles-just-transitionsextractives-and-agriculture-shaping-energy-and-food
- 72. Friends of the Earth International (2021) A Just Recovery Renewable Energy Plan for Africa https://www.foei.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/ Friends-of-the-Earth-Just-Recovery-Renewable-Energy-Plan-for-Africa-2021.pdf
- 73. Oxfam, 9th July 2024 "Rich countries overstating 'true value' of climate finance by up to \$88 billion, says Oxfam." https://www.oxfam.org/en/ press-releases/rich-countries-overstating-true-value-climate-finance-88-billion-says-oxfam
- 74. Oxfam (2024) Rich countries overstating 'true value' of climate finance by up to \$88 billion, says Oxfam https://www.oxfamamerica.org/press/ press-releases/rich-countries-overstating-true-value-of-climate-finance-by-up-to-88-billion-says-oxfam/
- 75. ActionAid (2023). The Vicious Cycle, https://actionaid.org/publications/2023/vicious-cycle
- 76. Fanning, A., & Hickel, J. (2023) Compensation for atmospheric appropriation. Nature Sustainability https://www.nature.com/articles/s41893-023-01130-8



- 77. ActionAid (2024) Finding the Finance: Tax Justice and The Climate Crisis, https://actionaid.org/sites/default/files/publications/Finding%20the%20 Finance%20Report%20-%20FINAL.pdf
- 78. Oxfam (2024), Less than 3% of G7 military spending could help end global hunger and solve Global South debt crisis, https://www.oxfam.org/en/ press-releases/less-3-g7-military-spending-could-help-end-global-hunger-and-solve-global-south-debt
- 79. ActionAid (2024) Finding the Finance: Tax justice and the climate crisis. https://actionaid.org/sites/default/files/publications/Finding%20the%20 Finance%20Report%20-%20FINAL.pdf
- 80. Eurodad, 19th August 2024 "After landslide vote, UN adopts ambitious mandate for three legally binding global tax deals" https://www.eurodad. org/after_landslide_vote_un_adopts_ambitious_mandate_for_three_legally_binding_global_tax_deals
- Trapido, P., C. Paolo De Salvo (eds) (2015), Agrimonitor, Washington DC: InterAmerican Development Bank Environment, Rural Development Disaster Risk Management Division, online: https://mydata.iadb.org/Agriculture-and-Rural-Development/IDB-Agrimonitor-PSE-Agricultural-Policy-Monitoring/2dqw-u35p, viewed in March 2024.
- OECD (2024), "Agricultural support estimates: Reference tables", OECD Agriculture Statistics [Database], online: https://doi. org/10.1787/538bf42b-en, viewed in March 2024.
- 83. Monitoring and Analysing Food and Agricultural Policies (MAFAP) (2024), Public Expenditure on Food and Agriculture, [Database], Rome, Italy: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, online: https://www.fao.org/in-action/mafap/data-hub/en, viewed in June 2024.
- IMF (2023) IMF Fossil Fuel Subsidies Data: 2023 Update, Working Paper No. 2023/169, https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WP/ Issues/2023/08/22/IMF-Fossil-Fuel-Subsidies-Data-2023-Update-537281
- 85. Partnership for Social Accountability Alliance (2024) Agroecology in Southern Africa: Financing the transition https://psa.copsam.com/wp-content/ uploads/2024/07/Agroecology_in_Southern_Africa-final30.07.2024.pdf
- 86. Partnership for Social Accountability Alliance (2022) Agroecology Financing Analysis Toolkit (AFAT) https://www.fao.org/family-farming/detail/ en/c/1632318/
- 87. Agroecology Info Pool, "13 Principles of Agroecology" (accessed 26th August 2024) https://www.agroecology-pool.org/13aeprinciples/



SEPTEMBER 2024 AUTHORS: TERESA ANDERSON AND PAULA CASTRO DATA ANALYSIS: WARD WARMERDAM / PROFUNDO DESIGNER: WWW.NICKPURSERDESIGN.COM WITH THANKS TO: MD. ABDUL KALAM AZAD, SWALEH KITASI, AGNES SCHIM VAN DER LOEFF, DAVID ARCHER, JULIE MIDDLETON, FABIANA FERREIRA ALVES, STEPHEN GREENBERG, DOUG HERZLER, KEVIN MAENZANISE, JESS MIDWINTER, JULIAH KIBOCHI, ANA ALCALDE, TANZIA ANJUM, CYNTHIA WECHABE & SFISO DLADLA





International Registration number: 27264198

Website: www.actionaid.org Telephone: +27 11 731 4500 Fax: +27 11 880 8082 Email: mailjhb@actionaid.org

ActionAid International Secretariat, Postnet Suite 248, Private Bag X31, Saxonwold 2132, Johannesburg, South Africa.

September 2024